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MINUTES OF THE COUNCIL MEETING OF THE HINDMARSH SHIRE COUNCIL HELD 

5 SEPTEMBER 2018 AT THE HEALTH AND FITNESS CENTRE, DIMBOOLA 

COMMENCING AT 3:00PM.  

 

 

AGENDA 

 

1. Acknowledgement of the Indigenous Community and Opening Prayer 

 

2.  Apologies 

 

3. Confirmation of Minutes 

 

4. Declaration of Interests 

 

5. Public Question Time 

 

6. Deputations  

 

7. Correspondence  

 

8. Assembly of Councillors  

 

8.1 Record of Assembly 

 

9. Planning Permit Reports  

 

No report 

 

10. Reports Requiring a Decision  

 

10.1  Former Rainbow Primary School 
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11. Special Committees  

 

11.1 Nhill Town Committee 

11.2 Rainbow Town Committee 

 

12. Late Reports  

 

No report 

 

13. Other Business 

 

 

14. Confidential Matters 

 

14.1 Contract No 2018-19/01 - Tender for Construction of Nhill Skate Park 

14.2 Change in Contract Award – 2017-2018/11 - Restoration of Flood Affected 

Roads - Package 1 Revised 

14.3 Business Assistance Grants Program 2018/19 – Round 1 

 

15.  Meeting Close 
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Present:  

Crs R Ismay (Mayor), R Lowe (Deputy Mayor), R Gersch, D Nelson, D Colbert  

 

In Attendance: 

Mr Greg Wood, (Chief Executive Officer), Ms Monica Revell (Director Corporate and 

Community Services), Mr Shane Power (Director Infrastructure Services), 

Ms Shelley Gersch (Executive Assistant) 

 

1. ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF THE INDIGENOUS COMMUNITY AND OPENING 

PRAYER  

 

Cr R Ismay opened the meeting at 3:00pm by acknowledging the Indigenous Community 

and offering the opening prayer. 

 

 

2. APOLOGIES 

 

Cr T Schneider (leave of absence) 

 

MOVED: Crs R Gersch/R Lowe 

 

That Council accepts the apologies. 

 

CARRIED 

 

3. CONFIRMATION OF MINUTES 

 

RECOMMENDATION: 

 

That the Minutes of the Ordinary Council Meeting held on Wednesday 15 August 2018 

at the Council Chambers, 92 Nelson Street, Nhill as circulated to Councillors be taken 

as read and confirmed. 

 

MOVED: Crs D Colbert/D Nelson 

 

That the Minutes of the Ordinary Council Meeting held on Wednesday 15 August 2018 

at the Council Chambers, 92 Nelson Street, Nhill as circulated to Councillors be taken 

as read and confirmed. 

 

CARRIED 

Attachment: 1 
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4. DECLARATION BY COUNCILLORS OR OFFICERS OF ANY DIRECT OR 

INDIRECT INTEREST IN ANY ITEM ON THE AGENDA. 

 

 Direct; or 

 Indirect interest 

 a )  by close association; 

 b )  that is an indirect financial interest; 

 c )  because of conflicting duties; 

 d )  because of receipt of an applicable gift; 

 e )  as a consequence of becoming an interested party; or 

 f )  because of an impact on residential amenity. 

 

Declaration of direct or indirect interest must also be advised by Councillors at the 

commencement of discussion of the specific item. 

 

Cr R Ismay declared an indirect interest because of conflicting duties in item 10.1 Former 

Rainbow Primary School Site. 

 

 

5. PUBLIC QUESTION TIME 

 

 

6. DEPUTATIONS 

 

No deputations  
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7. CORRESPONDENCE 

 

7.1   GENERAL CORRESPONDENCE 

 

Responsible Officer: Chief Executive Officer 

Attachment:  2 

    

Introduction: 

The following correspondence is tabled for noting by Council: 

 Ken Lehmann 

o Congratulating him on his service to bands in the Wimmera 

 

RECOMMENDATION: 

 

That Council notes the attached correspondence. 

 

MOVED: Crs R Gersch/R Lowe 

 

That Council notes the attached correspondence. 

 

CARRIED 

Attachment: 2 

 

 

8.  ASSEMBLY OF COUNCILLORS 

 

Responsible Officer:  Chief Executive Officer 

Attachment:  3 

 

Introduction: 

The attached Assembly of Councillors Records are presented as an attachment to the 

Council agenda for the information of Councillors and recorded at the Council meeting as 

required under s80A Local Government Act 1989. 

 

Options: 

1. That Council accepts the Assembly of Councillors Records as presented. 

 

RECOMMENDATION: 

 

That Council accepts the Assembly of Councillors Records as presented. 

 

MOVED: Crs R Lowe/D Nelson 

 

That Council accepts the Assembly of Councillors Records as presented. 



HINDMARSH SHIRE COUNCIL      
COUNCIL MEETING  MINUTES   5 SEPTEMBER 2018 
 

 
  

6 
 

CARRIED 

 

Attachment:  3 

 

 

 

 

9. PLANNING PERMITS 

 

No planning permits.  
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10. REPORTS REQUIRING A DECISION 

 

Cr R Ismay declared an indirect interest because of conflicting duties and left the room at 

3:03pm.  

 

Deputy Mayor, Cr R Lowe assumed the role of Chairperson in Cr R Ismay’s absence.  

 

10.1 FORMER RAINBOW PRIMARY SCHOOL SITE 

 

Responsible Officer:  Chief Executive Officer 

 

Introduction:  

The purpose of this report is to enter into a lease with the Rainbow Progress Association at 

the Former Rainbow Primary School Site, 30 Bow Street, Rainbow. 

 

Discussion: 

At the Council meeting on 6 June 2018, Council resolved to: 

1.  retain ownership of the property formerly known as the Rainbow Primary School. 

2.   propose a $15,000 upfront payment from the Rainbow Progress Association and enter 

a 15 year lease with annual lease payments of $1,000 per year for 10 years, then $100 

per year for the following five years. 

3. authorise the CEO to discuss Council’s proposal with the Rainbow Progress 

Association and negotiate an outcome ensuring Council are not liable for any 

expenses on the property (other than Rainbow Skate Park associated expenses). 

 

Under section 190(3)(b) of the Local Government Act if a lease is to be more than 10 years 

Council must at least 4 weeks before the lease is made,  publish a public notice of the 

proposed lease.  Any person wishing to make a submission in relation to Council’s intention 

to lease land. Under section 190(4) a person has a right to make a submission under section 

223 on the proposed lease. 

 

Council’s intention to enter into a fifteen year lease with Rainbow Progress Association Inc. 

for the former Rainbow Primary School Site located at 30 Bow Street, Rainbow was 

advertised in the Rainbow Jeparit Argus on 19 July 2018, Wimmera Mail Times 20 July 2018 

and on Council’s website with any person proposing to make a written submission in relation 

to Council’s intention having until close of business on Friday 24 August 2018 to make the 

submission. 

 

At the time of closing no submissions were received in relation to Council’s intention to enter 

into the lease with Rainbow Progress Association. 

 

Negotiations between the CEO and Rainbow Progress Association in relation to the lease 

are currently being finalised. Upon discussions with Rainbow Progress Association a clause 

in relation to sale of the property will be included to allow Rainbow Progress Association 
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first option to purchase the property if Council decide to sell, with the upfront payment of 

$15,000 being the deposit. 

 

Options: 

1. Enter into lease arrangements with Rainbow Progress Association for a period of 15 

years.  

Link to Council Plan: 

1.1 An actively engaged community.  

1.1.4 Support and celebrate volunteering and work collaboratively with volunteer 

groups.  

3.2  A thriving tourism Industry.  

3.2.3 Support innovative community-driven events and festivals that stimulate tourism 

growth in the region.  

3.2.7  Promote and support local historic assets and heritage groups  

 

Financial Implications: 

There are financial implications for Council incurring costs associated with the lease 

agreement preparation. 

 

Risk Management Implications:  

There are risk management implications from retaining ownership. Council will need to 

ensure adequate insurance coverage over the property. 

 

Conflict of Interest: 

Under section 80C of the LGA officers providing advice to Council must disclose any 

interests, including the type of interest. 

 

Officer Responsible & Author: Monica Revell, Director Corporate & Community Services 

In providing this advice as the Officer Responsible & Author, I have no interests to disclose. 

 

Communications Strategy: 

Council notify the Rainbow Progress Association of its intentions to finalise the lease 

arrangement. 

 

RECOMMENDATION: 

 

That Council: 

1. Enters into a lease arrangement with Rainbow Progress Association. 

2. Lease terms include a $15,000 upfront payment from the Rainbow Progress 

Association and a 15 year lease with annual lease payments of $1,000 per year 

for 10 years, then $100 per year for the following five years. 

3. Gives first option to purchase the property Rainbow Progress Association 

should Council decide to sell the property, with the $15,000 upfront payment 

being used as the deposit for the purchase. 
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4. Authorises the CEO to finalise and sign the lease arrangements with the 

Rainbow Progress Association. 

 

MOVED: Crs R Gersch/D Colbert  

 

That Council: 

1. Enters into a lease arrangement with Rainbow Progress Association for the 

property known as the former Rainbow Primary School. 

2. Lease terms include a $15,000 upfront payment from the Rainbow Progress 

Association and a 15 year lease with annual lease payments of $1,000 per year 

for 10 years, then $100 per year for the following five years. 

3. Gives first option to purchase the property Rainbow Progress Association 

should Council decide to sell the property, with the $15,000 upfront payment 

being used as the deposit for the purchase. 

4. Authorises the CEO to finalise and sign the lease arrangements with the 

Rainbow Progress Association. 

 

CARRIED 

 

 

Mayor, Cr R Ismay returned to the room at 3:05pm and resumed the role of Chairperson.  
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11. SPECIAL COMMITTEES 

 

11.1 NHILL TOWN COMMITTEE 

 

Responsible Officer: Director Corporate and Community Services 

Attachment: 4 

 

Introduction: 

The Nhill Town Committee held its general meeting on 16 July 2018.  The purpose of this 

report is to note the minutes from this meeting. A copy of the minutes is included as an 

attachment for the information of Council. 

 

RECOMMENDATION: 

 

That Council notes the minutes of the Nhill Town Committee general meeting held on 

16 July 2018.  

 

MOVED: Crs R Gersch/D Nelson 

 

That Council notes the minutes of the Nhill Town Committee general meeting held on 

16 July 2018.  

 

CARRIED 

 

Attachment: 4 

 

 

11.2 RAINBOW TOWN COMMITTEE 

 

Responsible Officer: Director Corporate and Community Services 

Attachment: 5 

 

Introduction: 

The Rainbow Town Committee held its general meeting on 23 July 2018.  The purpose of 

this report is to note the minutes from this meeting. A copy of the minutes is included as an 

attachment for the information of Council. 

 

RECOMMENDATION: 

 

That Council: 

1. notes the minutes of the Rainbow Town Committee general meeting held on 23 

July 2018; 

2. notes that the Rainbow Town Committee will require Council approval prior to 

spending the $7,400 allocated to the Silo Art Trail 
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MOVED: Crs R Lowe/D Nelson 

 

That Council: 

1. notes the minutes of the Rainbow Town Committee general meeting held on 23 

July 2018; 

2. notes that the Rainbow Town Committee will require Council approval prior to 

spending the $7,400 allocated to the Silo Art Trail 

 

CARRIED 

Attachment: 5 
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12. LATE REPORTS 

 

No report 

 

13. OTHER BUSINESS 

 

 

14. CONFIDENTIAL REPORTS 

 

In accordance with Section 89 (2) of the Local Government Act 1989, Council may close the 

meeting to the public if items to be discussed are deemed confidential, that is, if the items 

to be discussed relate to: 

a) Personnel matters; 

b) The personal hardship of any resident or ratepayer; 

c) Industrial matters; 

d) Contractual matters; 

e) Proposed developments; 

f)  Legal advice; 

g) Matters affecting the security of Council property; 

h) Any other matter which the Council or Special Committee considers would 

prejudice the Council or any person;  

(i) a resolution to close the meeting to members of the public. 

 

RECOMMENDATION: 

 

That the meeting be closed in accordance with Section 89 of the Local Government 

Act 1989, to consider: 

 

14.1  Contract No 2018-19/01 - Tender for Construction of Nhill Skate Park 

14.2 Change in Contract Award – 2017-2018/11 - Restoration of Flood Affected 

Roads - Package 1 Revised 

14.3  Business Assistance Grants 2018/19 Round 1 

 

MOVED: Crs R Gersch/R Lowe 

 

That the meeting be closed in accordance with Section 89 of the Local Government 

Act 1989, to consider: 

 

14.1  Contract No 2018-19/01 - Tender for Construction of Nhill Skate Park 

14.2 Change in Contract Award – 2017-2018/11 - Restoration of Flood Affected 

Roads - Package 1 Revised 

14.3  Business Assistance Grants 2018/19 Round 1 

 

CARRIED 
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Council resumed in open session at 3:30pm.  

 

15. MEETING CLOSE  

 

MOVED: Crs D Colbert 

 

That Council remains a member of the Rail Freight Alliance.  

 

MOTION LAPSED (no seconder) 

 

The CEO agreed that officers would present a report to a future Council meeting regarding 

the Rail Freight Alliance membership.  

 

There being no further business, Cr R Ismay declared the meeting closed at 3:46pm.  

 



30th July, 2018

Hindmarsh Shire,

I wish to object to a council decision made on 18th April, 2018 relating to the opening of the northern
section of Nhill-Rainbow Road, between Detpa and Rainbow, as recorded in the council minutes
from that meeting (part 11.1).

It is noted in the minutes a request to reopen the road from local farmers who claim they are
experiencing financial losses to their businesses, due to extended travel distances by not being able
to use the road with heavy vehicles (trucks).

It is noted in the minutes that council has the power to restrict truck access for the following,

(a) endanger public safety; or (b) damage road infrastructure; or (c) adversely affect public
amenity.

The minutes talk about the added distance (11-33 kms) for farmers to haul gypsum from Yanac to
Rainbow.

The minutes talk about financial implications (road improvements) with a rare possibility of money
being made in the next financial year or more definitely in the 2019-2020 financial year.

What is not noted is that most trucks travelling the Nhill-Rainbow Road have to use the built up
street of Lake Street to access same.

Well Hindmarsh Shire I wish to ask the following,

1. What consultation did you do with residents affected by this decision (Lake Street Rainbow
as an example?)

2. What consultation did the Shire do with any other affected persons/businesses/emergency
services affected by this decision?

3. What testing/recording has the shire done of how many trucks will now use this route?
4. What record has the Shire done of times these trucks will use this route?
5. What will council do to eliminate noise/dust of trucks that are required to start and stop at

each end of Lake Street, Rainbow? (T-intersection/railway crossing)
6. What will the Shire do to make it safe for Rainbow residents to use Lake Street on

foot/bicycle/wheelie walker/etc?
7. Where did the money ‘suddenly’ come from to do the gravel sides of the Nhill-Rainbow Road

for its entirety?
8. Where did the money ‘suddenly’ come from to completely resurface approximately three

kilometres of this road?
9. What will now happen to the remaining single width section of the Jeparit-Lorquon Road

where the Shire spent copious time and money improving for these local farmers?
10. Since when has Yanac been a local farmer to the Rainbow District?



11. How will the Shire fund the maintenance/improvement  of this road when it cannot
maintain/improve the main gypsum feeder road, Albacutya and Kurnbrunin Roads?

12. Where does the distances quoted come from, google maps show that it is 11 kilometres and
11 minutes  extra to go via Jeparit (using truck made roads)?

All in all this decision of the Shire has the power to continue the truck restriction and when one
looks at the total truck safety issue, road infrastructure damage and public amenity (as recorded
by them) it is no contest against saving a farmer (business) a few dollars.

I demand the Shire immediately place this decision on hold  until they convene an open and
frank set of community meetings so that all affected persons can have a say in the decision that
affects their lives and well-being.  After all, in the same minutes (11.3), you were able to consult
with all persons about a non-life threatening, non-damage threatening issue of a minor street
name change.

Regards,

Tony Clark

23 Lake Street,

Rainbow, 3424



 
Doc ID: 238142 

 
13 August 2018 

 
 

 
 
Tony Clark 
23 Lake Street 
RAINBOW  VIC  3424 
hotwheels13@optusnet.com.au  
 
Dear Tony 
 
Re: Rainbow-Nhill Road – Truck access 
 
Thank you for your letter received 30 July 2018, objecting to the Council 

decision on 18 April 2018, to remove the truck restrictions on the Rainbow-

Nhill Road. 

 

Prior to Council making the decision to remove truck restrictions on the 

Rainbow-Nhill Road, consultation was undertaken with the farming community, 

the Rainbow P-12 College, Wimmera Mallee Bus Service, the Rainbow Town 

Committee and the broader community by way of ‘Community Conversations’ 

held at various locations throughout the Shire as part the 2018/2019 budget 

process.  

 

All works (completed and planned) on the Rainbow-Nhill Road were identified 

prior to Council’s decision and listed on Council’s ten-year infrastructure works 

program.   

 

In relation to your question about recent shoulder maintenance work I can 

advise that this work was identified through our proactive asset inspections 

early in 2018 and funded through Council’s annual sealed road maintenance 

budget. 

 

Council maintains an asset database, which includes data on traffic volumes 

and types across its road network. Rainbow-Nhill Road has been identified as 

a priority North-South connector road to facilitate the movement of vehicles 

associated with local agricultural and industrial activities. The State 

Government has provided Council with significant funds to undertake upgrade 

works along Rainbow-Nhill Road, in recognition of the importance of this route 

to the local economy. 

 

Lake Street is classified as a transport route which is to accommodate private 

and commercial traffic.  Officers will continue to monitor the road network as 

mailto:hotwheels13@optusnet.com.au


defined within Councils Road Management Plan, and address any impacts 

with regard to safety as required.  

 

A copy of your letter and this response will be provided to Councillors for their 

information. 

 
Should you have any further queries relating to this matter, I invite you to 

contact Shane Power, Director Infrastructure Services on 5391 4444.  

 

Yours sincerely 
 
 
 
 
 

Greg Wood 
Chief Executive Officer 
 

 



Tony Clark 

23 Lake Street, 

Rainbow, 

3424. 

Hindmarsh Shire Council, 

RECEIVED 
1 1 SEP 2018 

HINDMARSH SHIRE 

ASSESS# 

ACTION b^> 

INFO EA 

XREF 

5th September, 2018 

On 30th July, 2018 I emailed your office in relation to the removal of truck restrictions on the Nhill-Rainbow Road. In 
that letter I lodged an objection and raised several issues, of which I have multiple more. On 13th August, 2018 you 
replied to me where you covered off on very few of the issues and generalised on a lot of the others. 

In my previous letter I spoke of the quantity of trucks that will use this road, your reply related to a comprehensive 
vehicle surveys being constantly conducted by the Council. Of this I agree, but, what are councils forward 
projections of trucks using this road. I feel that once word spreads of the opening of the road, the residents of Lake 
Street will be subjected to trucks coming from Narracoorte (SA), Bordertown (SA), Harrow/Balmoral, Kaniva and a 
host of other areas to use this road to save themselves a few dollars, more so during gypsum season. One must 
remember this is the only reason council was asked to open this road. 

What will council be doing to make pedestrians safe along Lake Street, especially our elderly residents that use a 
walking frame and are required to use the roadway due to no footpaths? 

What will council be doing to assist our younger children who currently enjoy 'playing' games in the street? 

What will council do to limit the noise/dust of these trucks taking into account these trucks would need to accelerate 
/brake at each end of Lake Street, Rainbow? 

With the above question, what will council do to enforce same out of hours as during gypsum season, trucks travel 
through Rainbow, via the current route, nearly 24 hours a day? 

What will council do to assist the elderly residents and workers from the Rainbow Hospital/Hospice centre to cross 
the road whilst taking a leisurely walk up to Federal Street, supposedly enjoying the peace and quiet of Rainbow? 

What will council do to guarantee the safety of the daily school bus, and it's occupants? 

As a heavy users of council roads privately and in my work capacity, I am finding the Shire seriously lacking in the 
maintenance of your sealed roads. I am aware that there are numerous others that have input into this (Federal 
Government funding for example) but still, as a road user I find the roads are the becoming potholed and undulating. 
This is mostly caused by trucks, the Nhill-Rainbow Road surface is currently in good condition but as history shows 
this will quickly deteriorate once openly used by trucks. 

i am reliably informed numerous Rainbow residents travel via this road to reach Nhill/Kaniva and beyond, rather 
than the Dimboola-Rainbow Road, simply because there are no trucks using this route and therefore they avoid all 
their inherent dangers. Even some of your employees travel this route to get to work, simply to avoid trucks. 

One issue I raised in my previous letter was the lack of community consultation and I found your response seriously 
lacking in the effort made by council to consult with all affected parties. Especially as at the same meeting 



councillors decided to remove the restriction, council had been able to consult with all, and more, affected parties to 
in relation to a name change of a minor street in Dimboola. As such, I did your job for you and started consulting 
with some residents of Lake Street, Rainbow (where all trucks will travel at the northern end of Nhill-Rainbow Road) 
and I found a 100% disagreement with council's decision. As such I started a petition and was overwhelmed by the 
results. See attached. 100% of all residents of Lake Street, Rainbow objected to council's decision. That is right, 
100%. Numerous others, on hearing I had this petition running, sought me out to sign such. This was no 
comprehensive petition; it was only open by me for a short time. I was surprised by the variance of persons keen to 
sign the petition objecting to the opening of this road for trucks. 

Taking into account all of the above, and on behalf of all those that signed the petition, I demand, for the second 
time, that Hindmarsh Shire Council review the decision to open the Nhill-Rainbow Road to trucks and that the Shire 
revert to what was the current status quo of no trucks except for local deliveries. 

After all, the Shire definitely should not be putting money before safety and in this case, it appears that is what is 
occurring. 

Regards, 

Anthony Clark 



Unofficial 

We, the undersigned, wish to object to the decision by the Hindmarsh Shire Council to reopen the 
Nhill-Rainbow Road between Jeparit-Lorquon Road (Pipkorn Corner) and Russell Street for the 
unlimited use of heavy vehicles. We object on the grounds this decision will seriously affect the 
amenity, and more importantly, the safety of Rainbow residents in numerous ways. 

Address Name Contact Signature 

M '-i 

.Lr;/v 



Unofficial 

We, the undersigned, wish to object to the decision by the Hindmarsh Shire Council to reopen the 
Nhill-Rainbow Road between Jeparit-Lorquon Road (Pipkorn Corner) and Russell Street for the 
unlimited use of heavy vehicles. We object on the grounds this decision will seriously affect the 
amenity, and more importantly, the safety of Rainbow residents in numerous ways. 

Name Address Contact 
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Unofficial 

We, the undersigned, wish to object to the decision by the Hindmarsh Shire Council to reopen the 
Nhill-Rainbow Road between Jeparit-Lorquon Road (Pipkorn Corner) and Russell Street for the 
unlimited use of heavy vehicles. We object on the grounds this decision will seriously affect the 
amenity, and more importantly, the safety of Rainbow residents in numerous ways. 

Name Address Contact Signature 
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17th September 2018

Mr. Shane Power
Director Infrastructure Services
Hindmarsh Shire Council
PO Box 250
Nhill
Victoria
3418

Re: Hindmarsh Shire Council decision on Truck Access Rainbow-Nhill Road
Dear Shane,
I am once again writing to you on behalf of the staff, parents and the students of Rainbow P-12
College.
I would like to firstly thank you and Councilor Ron Lowe for meeting with me on Friday the 15th of
June to discuss the important issue regarding the change in restrictions on the Rainbow-Nhill Road.
Since that meeting School Council has convened and discussed our collective view on what action to
take next.
As a School Council who is responsible for the safety and security of our students and their families
we wish to implore the Hindmarsh Shire Council to review their decision, made at the Wednesday
the 18th of April 2018 meeting, to remove the current truck restrictions.
We seek your review of the decision due to the limited public consultation with those residents who
may be impacted by the change in conditions on the Rainbow – Nhill Road.
We suggest that perhaps a community meeting be held in Jeparit to capture the thoughts and
feelings of the families whose children currently travel on the bus and the parents of children who
may travel on the bus route in the future. This meeting could also include other community members
to provide them with an opportunity to express their views both for and against the decision.
We also recommend a similar meeting to be held in Rainbow for school families to forward their
ideas as well as the residents on Lake Street and other interested stakeholders.
We believe if greater consultation occurs then a safe and suitable decision can be achieved.
We thank you in anticipation of your consideration of our request and are eager to find a safe,
sustainable and appropriate solution to the safety of road users on the Rainbow –Nhill Road.
If you would like to discuss this matter further please contact me at the school.
Yours sincerely

Alan Coffey
Principal



ASSEMBLY OF COUNCILLORS RECORD

Assembly of Councillors means a planned or scheduled meeting of at least 3 councillors
and one member of council staff which considers matters that are intended or likely to
be:
a) the subject of a decision of the Council; or
b) subject to the exercise of a function, duty of power of the council that has been

delegated to a person or committee; but does not include a meeting of the
Council, a special committee of the Council, a club, association, peak body,
political party or other organisation.

Requirements to be observed by an assembly of Councillors (Section 80A Local
Government
Act, 1989)

Title of Meeting: Council Briefing Session

Date: Wednesday 5 September 2018 Time: 1:00pm – 3:00pm

Assembly Location: Health and Fitness Centre, Dimboola

Present:
Crs. Ronald Ismay (Mayor), Debra Nelson, Ronald Lowe, David Colbert

Apologies:
Cr Tony Schneider (leave of absence), Robert Gersch

In Attendance:
Mr. Greg Wood (Chief Executive Officer), Mr Shane Power (Director Infrastructure
Services) (items 2-4), Ms Monica Revell (Director of Corporate and Community
Services) (items 2-4), Ms Shelley Gersch (Executive Assistant) (items 2-4)

Conflict of Interest Disclosures

1. Direct; or
2. Indirect interest

(a) by close association;
(b) that is an indirect financial interest;
(c) because of conflicting duties;
(d) because of receipt of an applicable gift;
(e) as a consequence of becoming an interested party; or
(f) because of an impact on residential amenity.

Declaration of direct or indirect interest must also be advised by Councillors
at the commencement of discussion of the specific item.



Councillors:
Nil

Officers:
Nil

Matters Discussed:

Completed by: Greg Wood

Signed: Date: 05/09/2018

Must be kept for four years from date of the assembly. Available for public
inspection at Council Offices for 12 months after date of assembly.

No. Detail Presenter
1. CEO Update Greg Wood

2. Rail Freight Alliance Update Reid Mather

3. Former Rainbow Primary School Monica Revell

4. Councillor Question Time Greg Wood
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Nhill

 Certification of the Financial Statements

In my opinion the accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Local Government Act 1989 , the Local Government
(Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2014 , Australian Accounting Standards and other mandatory professional reporting requirements.

Mrs Monica Revell

Nhill
In our opinion the accompanying financial statements present fairly the financial transactions of Hindmarsh Shire Council for the year ended 30 June 2018
and the financial position of the Council as at that date.

As at the date of signing, we are not aware of any circumstances which would render any particulars in the financial statements to be misleading or
inaccurate.

We have been authorised by the Council and by the Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2014 to certify the financial statements in
their final form.

Cr Ron Ismay

Cr Ron Lowe

Mr Greg Wood
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Note 2018 2017
$'000 $'000

Income
Rates and charges 2.1 8,350                     8,015                    
Statutory fees and fines 2.2 180                        151                       
User fees 2.3 856                        744                       
Grants - operating 2.4 5,515                     7,140                    
Grants - capital 2.4 1,903                     4,193                    
Contributions - monetary 2.5 41                          127                       
Net gain (or loss) on disposal of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment 2.6 47                          (36)                        
Share of net profits (or loss) of associates and joint ventures 5.2 29                          (9)                          
Other income 2.7 1,273                     1,375                    
Total income 18,194                   21,700                  

Expenses
Employee costs 3.1 (6,559)                    (6,150)                  
Materials and services 3.2 (4,563)                    (4,382)                  
Depreciation and amortisation 3.3 (4,836)                    (5,289)                  
Other expenses 3.5 (1,345)                    (1,341)                  
Total expenses (17,303)                  (17,162)                

Surplus for the year 891                        4,538                    

Other comprehensive income
Items that will not be reclassified to surplus or deficit in future periods
Net asset revaluation (decrement)/increment 5.1 (760)                       44,863                  
Total comprehensive result 131                        49,401                  

Comprehensive Income Statement
For the Year Ended 30 June 2018

The above comprehensive income statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Note 2018 2017

 $'000  $'000 

Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 4.1                     11,228                          9,694 
Trade and other receivables 4.1                           704                             839 
Inventories 4.2                           292                             201 
Other assets 4.2                             66                               75 
Total current assets                     12,290                        10,809 

Non-current assets
Trade and other receivables 4.1                               2                                 2 
Investments in associates, joint arrangements and subsidiaries 5.2                           480                             450 
Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment 5.1                   157,201                      158,382 
Total non-current assets                   157,683                      158,834 
Total assets                   169,973                      169,643 

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 4.3                           985                          1,057 
Trust funds and deposits 4.3                           182                               12 
Provisions 4.4                       1,682                          1,543 
Total current liabilities                       2,849                          2,612 

Non-current liabilities
Provisions 4.4                           253                             292 
Total non-current liabilities                           253                             292 
Total liabilities                       3,102                          2,904 

Net assets                   166,871                      166,739 

Equity
Accumulated surplus                     64,218                        63,327 
Reserves 8.1                   102,652                      103,412 
Total Equity                   166,870                      166,739 

Balance Sheet
As at 30 June 2018

The above balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Hindmarsh Shire Council

Accumulated Revaluation
Total Surplus Reserve

2018 $'000 $'000 $'000

Balance at beginning of the financial year 166,739             63,327               103,412                 
Surplus/(deficit) for the year 891                     891                    -                         
Net asset revaluation increment/(decrement) (760)                   -                     (760)                       
Balance at end of the financial year 166,870             64,218               102,652                 

Accumulated Revaluation
Total Surplus Reserve

2017 $'000 $'000 $'000

Balance at beginning of the financial year 117,338             58,789               58,549                   
Surplus/(deficit) for the year 4,538                  4,538                 -                         
Net asset revaluation increment/(decrement) 44,863               -                     44,863                   
Balance at end of the financial year 166,739             63,327               103,412                 

2017/2018 Financial Report

Statement of Changes in Equity
For the Year Ended 30 June 2018

Note

The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Hindmarsh Shire Council

2018 2017
Inflows/ Inflows/

(Outflows) (Outflows)
Note $'000 $'000

Cash flows from operating activities

Rates and charges 8,433                   8,095                 
Statutory fees and fines 10                        15                      
User fees 1,022                   936                    
Grants - operating 5,516                   7,140                 
Grants - capital 1,903                   4,193                 
Contributions - monetary 41                        127                    
Interest received 167                      216                    
Trust funds and deposits taken 175                      (6)                       
Other receipts  1,169                   1,177                 
Net GST refund/(payment) 52                        47                      
Employee costs (6,445)                  (6,163)                
Materials and services (4,647)                  (4,482)                
Other payments (1,494)                  (1,331)                
Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 5,902                   9,964                 

Cash flows from investing activities

Payments for property, infrastructure, plant and equipment 5.1 (4,537)                  (6,976)                
Proceeds from sale of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment 169                      93                      
Contribution in an Associate -                       18                      
Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities (4,368)                  (6,865)                

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 1,534                   3,099                 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 9,694                   6,595                 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year     11,228                 9,694                 

Restrictions on cash assets 4.1

2017/2018 Financial Report

Statement of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended 30 June 2018

The above statement of cash flow should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Hindmarsh Shire Council

Note 2018 2017
$'000 $'000

Property

Buildings 272                      2,838                   

Total property 272                      2,838                   
Plant and equipment
Plant, machinery and equipment 598                      438                      
Fixtures, fittings and furniture 99                        29                        
Computers and telecommunications -                       69                        
Total plant and equipment 697                      536                      

Infrastructure
Roads 2,352                   2,972                   
Bridges -                       9                          
Footpaths and cycleways 223                      182                      
Drainage 83                        22                        
Kerb & Channel 236                      126                      
Other infrastructure 674                      290                      
Total infrastructure 3,568                   3,601                   

Total capital works expenditure 4,537                   6,975                   

Represented by:
New asset expenditure 1,063                   2,529                   
Asset renewal expenditure 2,760                   2,941                   
Asset upgrade expenditure 714                      1,505                   
Total capital works expenditure 4,537                   6,975                   

2017/2018 Financial Report

Statement of Capital Works
For the Year Ended 30 June 2018

The above statement of capital works should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Hindmarsh Shire Council

2017/2018 Financial Report

OVERVIEW
 

Introduction
The Hindmarsh Shire Council was established by an Order of the Governor in Council on 20 January 1995 and is a body
corporate.  
The Council's main office  is located at 92 Nelson Street, Nhill, Victoria.  

Statement of compliance 

These financial statements are a general purpose financial report that consists of a Comprehensive Income Statement,
Balance Sheet, Statement of Changes in Equity, Statement of Cash Flows, Statement of Capital Works and Notes
accompanying these financial statements. The general purpose financial report complies with the Australian Accounting
Standards (AAS), other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board, the Local Government
Act 1989, and the Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2014.

Significant accounting policies

(a) Basis of accounting
The accrual basis of accounting has been used in the preparation of these financial statements, whereby assets, liabilities,
equity, income and expenses are recognised in the reporting period to which they relate, regardless of when cash is received
or paid. 

Judgements, estimates and assumptions are required to be made about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated judgements are based on professional judgement
derived from historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and also in future periods
that are affected by the revision. Judgements and assumptions made by management in the application of AAS's that have
significant effects on the financial statements and estimates relate to:

 - the fair value of land, buildings, infrastructure, plant and equipment (refer to Note 5.1)
 - the determination of depreciation for  buildings, infrastructure, plant and equipment (refer to Note 5.1)
 - the determination of employee provisions (refer to Note 4.4)
 - the determination of landfill provisions (refer to Note 4.4)

Unless otherwise stated, all accounting policies are consistent with those applied in the prior year. Where appropriate,
comparative figures have been amended to accord with current presentation, and disclosure has been made of any material
changes to comparatives. 

Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2018
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Hindmarsh Shire Council
2017/2018 Financial Report

Note 1 Performance against budget

1.1 Income and expenditure
Budget Actual Variance

2018 2018 2018
$'000 $'000 $'000 Ref

Income
Rates and charges 8,322                 8,350                 28                      1
Statutory fees and fines 139                    180                    41                      2
User fees 817                    856                    39                      3
Grants - operating 2,973                 5,515                 2,542                 4
Grants - capital 2,219                 1,903                 (316)                   5
Contributions - monetary 5                        41                      36                      6

128                    47                      (81)                     
Share of net profits/(losses) of associates and joint ventures -                         29                      29                      
Other income 1,915                 1,273                 (642)                   7
Total income 16,518               18,194               1,676                 

Expenses
Employee costs 6,842                 6,559                 (283)                   8
Materials and services 4,158                 4,563                 405                    9
Depreciation and amortisation 5,034                 4,836                 (198)                   10
Other expenses 1,876                 1,345                 (531)                   11
Total expenses 17,910               17,303               (607)                   

Surplus/(deficit) for the year (1,392)               891                    2,283                 

Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2018

The performance against budget  notes compare Council’s financial plan, expressed through its annual budget, with actual 
performance. The Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2014  requires explanation of any material 
variances. Council has adopted a materiality threshold of the lower of  10 percent or $100,000 where further explanation is 
warranted. Explanations have not been provided for variations below the materiality threshold unless the variance is 
considered to be material because of its nature.

The budget figures detailed below are those adopted by Council on 23 August, 2017. The Budget was based on 
assumptions that were relevant at the time of adoption of the Budget. Council sets guidelines and parameters for income 
and expense targets in this budget in order to meet Council’s planning and financial performance targets for both the short 
and long-term.  The budget did not reflect any changes to equity resulting from asset revaluations, as their impacts were not 
considered predictable.

These notes are prepared to meet the requirements of the Local Government Act 1989  and the Local Government 
(Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2014 .

Net gain/(loss) on disposal of property, infrastructure, plant 
and equipment
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Hindmarsh Shire Council
2017/2018 Financial Report

Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2018

(i) Explanation of material variations

Item Explanation

1 Rates & Charges

2 Statutory fees and fines

3 User fees

4 Grants - Operating

5 Grants - Capital

6 Contributions - monetary

7 Other Income

8 Employee Costs

9 Materials & Services

10 Depreciation

11 Other Expenses

Employee costs are currently under expenditure due to a number
of vacant positions throughout 2017/18 not being filled for quite
some time.

Materials and Services are over budget due to a large number of
areas with small over expenditure. There was increased
expenditure in building and infrastructure maintenance, and the
timing of crushing a supply of concrete for road maintenance
works also contributed to the variance.

Depreciation is under budget due to a number of large projects
either not being completed in 2017/18 or being completed late in
the year.

Other expenses are under budget due to a under expenditure in
Advertising, Audit Fees, Council Contributions, Memberships and
Subscriptions, and Postage.

Variance 
Ref

Rates & Charges are slightly higher than budget due to
supplementary valuations being included, along with windfarm in
lieu of rates. 

Statutory fees and fines are higher than budgeted due to a large
number of fines being issued.

User fees & Reimbursements are higher than budgeted due to
Income received from the Caravan Parks being much higher than
budgeted.

Contributions are higher than budgeted due to the recognition of
the income raised by the Nhill Integrated Early Years Fundraising
Committee.

Recurrent operating grants are higher than budget due to the early
payment of the 2018/19 Financial Assistance Grant. Non-recurrent
operating grants are higher than budget due to Council receiving a
number of grants that were not in the 2017/18 budget. These
includes a grant for a Facilitated Playgroup Coordinator,
Community Safety Grant, National Youth Week Grant, and
Disaster Recovery Grant.

Non-recurrent capital grants is under budget due to the early
payment of the Dimboola Civic Precint Grant and Skate Park
Grant in 2016/17 that was budgeted in 2017/18. Council received
a number of grants that were not in the 2017/18 budget. This
included Public Safety Infrastructure, Building Our Regions,
Stronger Communities Walking Track - Dimboola, Final payment
of the Recreational Fishing Grant, National Livestock Identification
Scheme Grant and Variable Message Sign Grant.

Other income is below budget due a reduction in Quarry Materials
used on jobs and Plant recovery.
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Hindmarsh Shire Council
2017/2018 Financial Report

Note 1   Performance against budget (cont'd)

1.2 Capital works
Budget Actual Variance

2018 2018 2018
$'000 $'000 $'000 Ref

Property
Buildings 715                    272                    (443)                   1
Total Property 715                    272                    (443)                   

Plant and Equipment
Plant, machinery and equipment 885                    697                    (188)                   2
Total Plant and Equipment 885                    697                    (188)                   

Infrastructure
Roads 2,850                 2,352                 (498)                   3
Bridges 325                    -                     (325)                   4
Footpaths and cycleways 155                    223                    68                      
Drainage 147                    83                      (64)                     5
Kerb & Channel 387                    236                    (151)                   6
Other infrastructure 368                    674                    306                    7
Total Infrastructure 4,232                 3,568                 (664)                   

Total Capital Works Expenditure 5,832                 4,537                 (1,295)               

Represented by:
New asset expenditure 377                    1,063                 686                    
Asset renewal expenditure 3,565                 2,760                 (805)                   
Asset upgrade expenditure 1,890                 714                    (1,176)               
Total Capital Works Expenditure 5,832                 4,537                 (1,295)               

Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2018

Page 14 of 43



Hindmarsh Shire Council
2017/2018 Financial Report

Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2018

(i) Explanation of material variations

Item Explanation

1 Buildings

2 Plant, machinery and equipment

3 Roads

4 Bridges

5 Drainage

6 Kerb & Chanel

7 Other Infrastructure

Variance 
Ref

Expenditure on buildings during 2017/18 was carried forward
from 2016/17 to complete the Nhill Early Years Centre and
Riverside Holiday Park Cabins. Work on the Dimboola Library
Incorporating the Civic Hub did not commence in 2017/18 and
will be carried forward to 2018/19.

There were a couple of items of Plant that were not purchased
in 2017/18. This includes, the woodchipper, two replacement
trailers and the replacement Nhill Town truck which will be
purchased in 2018/19.

Works on the Rainbow Nhill Road were delayed, but will be
finalised in early 2018/19.

Work on the Albacutya Bridge has not yet commenced.
Work on the Dimboola Drainage project was delayed during
2017/18. This project will be completed in 2018/19

Over expenditure in Other Infrastructure to date is a reflection
of the final payments being made for the skate parks which
exceeded budget as approved by council in October 2017.

Work on Victoria Street Dimboola was not completed in
2017/18 and will be carried forward to 201/19
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Hindmarsh Shire Council Notes to the Financial Report
2017/2018 Financial Report For the Year Ended 30 June 2018

Note 2 Funding for the delivery of our services 2018 2017
2.1 Rates and charges $'000 $'000

General Rates                 6,710                 6,453 
Municipal charge                    737                    709 
Waste management charge                    874                    853 
Revenue in lieu of rates                      29                       -  
Total rates and charges                 8,350                 8,015 

2.2 Statutory fees and fines

Animal registration fees                      71 66
Building fees                      50                      42 
Infringements and costs                      31                      15 
Town planning fees                      28                      28 
Total statutory fees and fines                    180                    151 

2.3 User fees

Aged and health services 288                   326                   
Private works 53                     54                     
Caravan parks & camping fees 302                   151                   
Transfer station fees 55                     51                     
Commercial garbage collection fees 40                     43                     
Film screenings and hall hire 32                     42                     
Other fees and charges 86                     77                     
Total user fees 856                   744                   

User  fees are recognised as revenue when the service has been provided or council has otherwise earned the income.

Council uses capital improved value (CIV) as the basis of valuation of all properties within the municipal district. The CIV of a property is
the value of the land and all of its improvements. 

The valuation base used to calculate general rates for 2017/18 was $1,237.08 million (2016/17 $1,230.92 million). 

The date of the latest general revaluation of land for rating purposes within the municipal district was January 2018, and the valuation
will be first applied in the rating year commencing 1 July, 2018.

Annual rates and charges are recognised as revenues when Council issues annual rates notices. Supplementary rates are recognised
when a valuation and reassessment is completed and a supplementary rates notice issued.

Statutory fees and fines (including parking fees and fines) are recognised as revenue when the service has been provided, the payment
is received, or when the penalty has been applied, whichever first occurs.
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Hindmarsh Shire Council Notes to the Financial Report
2017/2018 Financial Report For the Year Ended 30 June 2018

2018 2017
2.4 Funding from other levels of government $'000 $'000

Grants were received in respect of the following :
Summary of grants
Commonwealth funded grants                 6,409                 8,326 

State funded grants                 1,009                 3,007 

Total grants received                 7,418               11,333 

(a) Operating Grants
Recurrent - Commonwealth Government
Financial Assistance Grants                 4,410                 6,147 

General home care                    480                    432 

Recurrent - State Government
Delivered meals                        1                        1 

Home care services                      82                    131 

Home maintenance                        6                        8 

Senior citizens                      19                      17 

School crossing supervisors                        7                        5 

Libraries                    104                    102 

Volunteer Week                         -                        6 

Youth participation program                      39                      24 

Roadside weeds and pest management                    124                      74 

Other                      21                      25 

Total recurrent operating grants                 5,293                 6,972 

Non-recurrent - State Government
Karen community capacity building & migration project                      70                      90 

Community Safety Fund                      10                        4 

Walk to school                      11                      10 

Youth participation program                        3                      26 

Mosquito management                        2                      22 

Other                      14                      16 

Facilitated Playgroup                      41                         - 

Disaster Recovery                      71                         - 

Total non-recurrent operating grants                    222                    168 

Total operating grants                 5,515                 7,140 
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Hindmarsh Shire Council Notes to the Financial Report
2017/2018 Financial Report For the Year Ended 30 June 2018

2018 2017
(b) Capital Grants $'000 $'000

Recurrent - Commonwealth Government
Roads to recovery                 1,519                 1,747 

Total recurrent capital grants                 1,519                 1,747 

Non-recurrent - State Government
Nhill early years centre                      22                    780 

Dimboola civic precinct                    100                    510 

Dimboola caravan park                         -                    320 

Disaster recovery                         -                    382 

Menzies square redevelopment                         -                      16 

Rainbow recreation reserve changerooms                         -                    180 

Recreational fishing                      10                      14 

Skate parks                      90                    180 

Other                      11                      63 

Public safety infrastructure                      19                         - 

Building or regions                      75                         - 

Stronger coomunities walking track                      20                         - 

National Livestock Identification Scheme                      19                         - 

Variable Message Sign                      18                         - 

Total non-recurrent capital grants                    384                 2,445 

Total capital grants                 1,903                 4,192 

(c) Unspent grants received on condition that they be spent in a specific manner
Balance at start of year 1,125               626                   
Received during the financial year and remained unspent at balance date 321                   820                   
Received in prior years and spent during the financial year 443                   321                   
Balance at year end                 1,003                 1,125 

Grant income is recognised when Council obtains control of the contribution. Control is normally obtained upon receipt (or acquittal) or
upon earlier notification that a grant has been secured.
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Hindmarsh Shire Council Notes to the Financial Report
2017/2018 Financial Report For the Year Ended 30 June 2018

2018 2017
2.5 Contributions $'000 $'000

Monetary 41                     127                   
Total contributions 41                     127                   

2.6 Net gain/(loss) on disposal of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment

Proceeds of sale 213                   92                     
Written down value of assets disposed (166)                 (128)                 
Total net gain/(loss) on disposal of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment 47                     (36)                   

2.7 Other income

Plant operations 596                   620                   
Quarry operations 386                   397                   
Interest 167                   216                   
Recoupments 53                     78                     
Fire services levy administration 41                     40                     
Scrap metal and transfer station sales 26                     21                     
Vicroads agency administration 3                       2                       
Other 1                       1                       
Total other income 1,273               1,375               

The profit or loss on sale of an asset is determined when control of the asset has passed to the buyer.

Other income is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and is recognised when Council gains control
over the right to receive the income.

Monetary contributions are recognised as revenue when Council obtains control over the contributed asset.  

Interest is recognised as it is earned.
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Hindmarsh Shire Council Notes to the Financial Report
2017/2018 Financial Report For the Year Ended 30 June 2018

2018 2017
Note 3 The cost of delivering services $'000 $'000

3.1 Employee costs

Wages and salaries 4,981               4,830               
WorkCover 159                   114                   
Annual leave, sick leave and long service leave 616                   411                   
Superannuation 556                   540                   
Fringe benefits tax 87                     83                     
Training 129                   134                   
Other 31                     38                     
Total employee costs 6,559               6,150               

(b) Superannuation
Council made contributions to the following funds:

Defined benefit fund
Employer contributions to Local Authorities Superannuation Fund (Vision Super) 74                     129                   

74                     129                   
Employer contributions payable at reporting date. nil nil

Accumulation funds
Employer contributions to Local Authorities Superannuation Fund (Vision Super) 254                   194                   
Employer contributions -  other funds 228                   216                   

482                   410                   
Employer contributions payable at reporting date. nil nil

Refer to note 8.3 for further information relating to Council's superannuation obligations.

3.2 Materials and services

Contract payments 216                   257                   
Building maintenance 100                   180                   
Bushfire, drought and flood recovery expenditure -                        40                     
Depots and workshops 45                     46                     
Electoral services -                        82                     
Emergency assistance and fire prevention 13                     23                     
Health promotion 8                       93                     
Home and community care 104                   94                     
Community development, tourism and youth activities 254                   202                   
Garbage and recycling collection and waste disposal 452                   435                   
Utilities 316                   258                   
Office administration 47                     48                     
Information technology 310                   258                   
Parks, reserves and aerodromes 104                   99                     
Plant and fleet operations 951                   821                   
Printing stationery and advertising 33                     36                     
Quarry operations 240                   225                   
Rating and valuation 74                     75                     
Roads, footpaths, bridges and drainage management 665                   443                   
Swimming pool maintenance and management 316                   270                   
Town beautification 18                     16                     
Consultants and labour hire 134                   190                   
Other 163                   191                   
Total materials and services 4,563               4,382               
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Hindmarsh Shire Council Notes to the Financial Report
2017/2018 Financial Report For the Year Ended 30 June 2018

2018 2017
3.3 Depreciation $'000 $'000

Property 424                   363                   
Plant and equipment 794                   766                   
Infrastructure 3,618               4,160               
Total depreciation 4,836               5,289               

Refer to note 5.1 for a more detailed breakdown of depreciation charges.

3.4 Bad and doubtful debts

Movement in provisions for doubtful debts
Balance at the beginning of the year 17                     17                     
New Provisions recognised during the year -                        -                        
Amounts already provided for and written off as uncollectible -                        -                        
Amounts provided for but recovered during the year -                        -                        
Balance at end of year 17                     17                     

3.5 Other expenses

Advertising 41                                          26 

Auditors' remuneration - VAGO - audit of the financial statements, performance statement 
and grant acquitals

43                     45                     

Auditors' remuneration - Internal -                        17                     
Bank charges 31                     29                     
Community action grants 20                     29                     
Council contributions - other 28                     25                     
Councillors' allowances 174                   164                   
Fire services levy 23                     23                     
Hindmarsh landcare network contribution -                        10                     
Insurance 256                   232                   
Kindergartens 87                     22                     
Landfill charges 238                   226                   
Legal costs -                        3                       
Postage 23                     23                     
Regional library contribution 259                   254                   
State emergency service contribution -                        12                     
Subscriptions 88                     82                     
Telecommunications 24                     69                     
Town committees 30                     33                     
Others (20)                   17                     
Total other expenses 1,345               1,341               

Provision for doubtful debt is recognised when there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has occurred. Bad debts are written
off when identified.
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Hindmarsh Shire Council Notes to the Financial Report
2017/2018 Financial Report For the Year Ended 30 June 2018

Note 4 Our financial position 2018 2017
4.1 Financial assets $'000 $'000

(a) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash at bank 7,228               5,694               
Term deposits 4,000               4,000               
Total cash and cash equivalents 11,228             9,694               

Intended allocations

 - Cash held to fund carried forward capital works 1,788               723                   
 - Grants unspent 1,003               820                   
Total funds subject to intended allocations 2,791               1,543               

Other financial assets are valued at fair value, at balance date. Term deposits are measured at original cost. Any unrealised gains and losses
on holdings at balance date are recognised as either a revenue or expense.  

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits at call, and other highly liquid investments with original maturities of 90 days
or less, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.

Although not externally restricted the following amounts have been allocated for specific future purposes by Council:
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Hindmarsh Shire Council Notes to the Financial Report
2017/2018 Financial Report For the Year Ended 30 June 2018

2018 2017
(b) Trade and other receivables $'000 $'000

Current
Statutory receivables

Rates debtors 445                   528                   
Building permit debtors 7                       6                       
Infringement debtors 73                     52                     
GST receivable 97                     149                   

Non statutory receivables
Other debtors 31                     54                     
Sundry debtors 65                     59                     
Street scheme debtors 2                       7                       

Provision for doubtful debts - other debtors (16)                   (16)                   
Total current trade and other receivables 704                   839                   
Non-current
Non statutory receivables

Street scheme debtors 2                       2                       
Total non-current trade and other receivables 2                       2                       

Total trade and other receivables 706                   841                   

(a) Ageing of Receivables

Current (not yet due) 65                     39                     
Past due by up to 30 days 8                       2                       
Past due between 31 and 180 days -                        25                     
Past due between 181 and 365 days 3                       8                       
Past due by more than 1 year 29                     32                     
Total trade & other receivables 105                   106                   

(b) Ageing of individually impaired Receivables

Current (not yet due) -                        -                        
Past due by up to 30 days -                        -                        
Past due between 31 and 180 days -                        -                        
Past due between 181 and 365 days -                        -                        
Past due by more than 1 year 16                     16                     
Total trade & other receivables 16                     16                     

Short term receivables are carried at invoice amount. A provision for doubtful debts is recognised when there is objective
evidence that an impairment has occurred. Long term receivables are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest
rate method.

The ageing of the Council's trade & other receivables (excluding statutory receivables) that are not impaired was:

At balance date, other debtors representing financial assets with a nominal value of $16,649 (2017: $16,649) were impaired.
The amount of the provision raised against these debtors was $16,649 (2017: $16,649). They individually have been impaired
as a result of their doubtful collection. Many of the long outstanding past due amounts have been lodged with Council's debt
collectors or are on payment arrangements.

The ageing of receivables that have been individually determined as impaired at reporting date was:
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4.2 Non-financial assets 2018 2017
(a) Inventories $'000 $'000

Inventories held for distribution 292                    201                    
Total inventories 292                    201                    

(b) Other assets

Prepayments 65                       9                         

Accrued income 1                         65                       
Total other assets 66                       74                       

4.3 Payables
(a) Trade and other payables

Trade payables 666                    749                    
Accrued expenses 319                    308                    
Total trade and other payables 985                    1,057                 

(b) Trust funds and deposits

Refundable deposits 12                      12                      
Fire services levy 170                    -                         
Total trust funds and deposits 182                    12                      

Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2018

Purpose and nature of items

Inventories held for distribution are measured at cost, adjusted when applicable for any loss of service potential. All other inventories, including
land held for sale, are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Where inventories are acquired for no cost or nominal
consideration, they are measured at current replacement cost at the date of acquisition.

Amounts received as deposits and retention amounts controlled by Council are recognised as trust funds until they are returned, transferred in
accordance with the purpose of the receipt, or forfeited. Trust funds that are forfeited, resulting in council gaining control of the funds, are to be
recognised as revenue at the time of forfeit.

Refundable deposits - Deposits are taken by council as a form of surety in a number of circumstances, including in relation to building works,
tender deposits, contract deposits and the use of civic facilities.

Fire Service Levy - Council is the collection agent for fire services levy on behalf of the State Government. Council remits amounts received on a
quarterly basis.  Amounts disclosed here will be remitted to the state government in line with that process.
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For the Year Ended 30 June 2018

4.4 Provisions
Employee Landfill 

restoration
Other Total

2018 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000

Balance at beginning of the financial year 1,668                 21                      145                    1,834                 
Additional provisions 623                    -                         -                         623                    
Amounts used (522)                   -                         -                         (522)                   
Balance at the end of the financial year 1,769                 21                      145                    1,935                 

2017
Balance at beginning of the financial year 1,691                 21                      134                    1,846                 
Additional provisions 373                    -                         11                      384                    
Amounts used (396)                   -                         -                         (396)                   
Balance at the end of the financial year 1,668                 21                      145                    1,834                 
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2018 2017
(a) Employee provisions $'000 $'000

Annual leave and rostered day off 561                    531                    
Long service leave 102                    93                      

663                    624                    

Annual leave 93                      58                      
Long service leave 861                    795                    

954                    853                    
Total current employee provisions 1,617                 1,477                 

Non-current 
Long service leave 152                    191                    
Annual leave -                         -                         
Total non-current employee provisions 152                    191                    

Current 1,617                 1,477                 
Non-current 152                    191                    

1,769                 1,668                 

Wages and salaries and annual leave

Key assumptions:
- average discount rate 2.327% 2.224%
- inflation rate 3.875% 3.813%

(b) Landfill restoration
Current 21                      21                      
Non-current -                         -                         

21                      21                      
Key assumptions:
- estimated cost to rehabilitate 21                      21                      

(c) Quarry restoration 
Current 44                      44                      
Non-current 101                    101                    

145                    145                    
Key assumptions:
- estimated cost to rehabilitate 145 145

Current provisions expected to be wholly settled within 12 months

Current provisions expected to be wholly settled after 12 months

Aggregate carrying amount of employee provisions:

Total aggregate carrying amount of employee provisions

Long service leave

The calculation of employee costs and benefits includes all relevant on-costs and are calculated as follows at reporting date.

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and accumulated sick leave expected to be wholly settled within
12 months of the reporting date are recognised in the provision for employee benefits in respect of employee services up to the reporting date,
classified as current liabilities and measured at their nominal values.

Liabilities that are not expected to be wholly settled within 12 months of the reporting date are recognised in the provision for employee benefits
as current liabilities, measured at the present value of the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled using the remuneration
rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.

Liability for long service leave (LSL) is recognised in the provision for employee benefits. LSL is measured at present value. Unconditional LSL is
disclosed as a current liability. Conditional LSL that has been accrued, where an employee is yet to reach a qualifying term of employment, is
disclosed as a non - current liability.

Council is obligated to restore a number of landfill and quarry sites to a particular standard. The forecast life of the site is based on current
estimates of remaining capacity and the forecast rate of infill. The provision for landfill restoration has been calculated based on the present
value of the expected cost of works to be undertaken. The expected cost of works has been estimated based on current understanding of work
required to reinstate the site to a suitable standard. Accordingly, the estimation of the provision required is dependent on the accuracy of the
forecast timing of the work, work required and related costs.
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2018 2017

4.5 Financing arrangements $'000 $'000

The Council has the following funding arrangements in place as at 30 June 2018.
Credit card facilities 30                      30                      
Total facilities 30                      30                      

Used facilities 23                      20                      
Unused facilities 7                        10                      

4.6 Commitments

2018
Not later than 

1 year

Later than 1 
year and not 

later than 2 
years

Later than 2 
years and not 

later than 5 
years

Later than 5 
years Total

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Operating
Building services 158                   162                    -                         -                         320                    
Kerbside recycling collection 260                   260                    260                    -                         780                    
Kerbside waste collection 197                   197                    197                    -                         591                    
Transport waste and recycling to Dooen 62                     62                      62                      -                         186                    
Swimming pool management 266                   -                         -                         -                         266                    
Meals for delivery 91                     59                      -                         -                         150                    
Internal audit services 49                     49                      98                      -                         196                    
Total 1,083               789                    617                    -                         2,489                 

2017
Not later than 

1 year

Later than 1 
year and not 

later than 2 
years

Later than 2 
years and not 

later than 5 
years

Later than 5 
years Total

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Operating
Building services 25                     25                      
Kerbside recycling collection 162                   166                    340                    -                         668                    
Kerbside waste collection 263                   270                    554                    -                         1,087                 
Transport waste and recycling to Dooen 55                     57                      116                    -                         228                    
Swimming pool management 249                   254                    -                         -                         503                    
Meals for delivery 23                     -                         -                         -                         23                      
Total 777                   747                    1,010                 -                         2,534                 

The Council has entered into the following commitments. Commitments are not recognised in the Balance Sheet. Commitments are disclosed at
their nominal value and presented inclusive of the GST payable.
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5.1 Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment
Summary of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment

At Fair Value 
30 June 2017 Additions Revaluation Depreciation Disposal Transfers

At Fair Value 30 
June 2018

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Land 2,370               -                        -                        -                      -                      2,370                
Buildings 21,477             33                     -                        (424)                  (18)                  520                 21,588              
Plant and equipment 5,483               694                   -                        (794)                  (103)                37                   5,317                
Infrastructure 125,091           3,486                (760)                  (3,618)               -                      609                 124,808            
Work in progress 3,960               324                   -                        -                        -                      (1,166)             3,118                

158,381           4,537                (760)                  (4,836)               (121)                -                      157,201            

Summary of Work in Progress  Opening WIP  Additions  Transfers  Closing WIP 
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Buildings 2,946               238                   (520)                  2,664                
Plant and equipment 37                    3                       (37)                    3                       
Infrastructure 978                  82                     (609)                  451                   
Total 3,961               323                   (1,166)               3,118                

Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2018
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Asset recognition thresholds and depreciation periods
Depreciation 

Period Threshold Limit

$'000
Land & land improvements
   land                        -                           1 
Buildings
   buildings 30 - 100 years                         1 
Plant and Equipment
   plant, machinery and equipment 2 - 20 years                         1 
   fixtures, fittings and furniture 2 - 50 years                         1 
Infrastructure
   roads - unsealed pavements 15 - 40 years                         1 
   roads - sealed surface 15 - 40 years                         1 
   roads - sealed road pavements 70 - 110 years                         1 
   roads - substructure 100 years                         1 
   roads - kerb, channel and minor culverts and other 60 -100 years                         1 
   bridges 70 - 120 years                         1 
   footpaths and cycleways 15 - 80 years                         1 
   drainage 80 - 120 years                         1 
   other infrastructure 5 - 100 years                         1 
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(a) Property

 Land - 
specialised 

 Total Land & 
Land 

Improvements 

 Heritage 
buildings 

 Buildings - 
specialised 

 Total 
Buildings 

 Work In 
Progress 

 Total Property 

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
At fair value 1 July 2017                2,370                  2,370                     215                24,494              24,709                2,946                30,025 
Accumulated depreciation at 1 July 2017                      -                          -                       (31)                (3,200)              (3,231)                      -                  (3,231)

               2,370                  2,370                     184                21,294              21,478                2,946                26,794 
Movements in fair value
Additions                      -                          -                          -                         33                     33                   238                     271 
Disposal                      -                          -                          -                       (18)                   (18)                      -                       (18)
Transfers                      -                          -                          -                       520                   520                 (520)                        -   

                     -                          -                          -                       535                   535                 (282)                     253 
Movements in accumulated depreciation
Depreciation                      -                         (9)                   (415) (424)                                     -   (424)                  

                     -                          -                         (9)                   (415)                 (424)                      -                     (424)

At fair value 30 June 2018 2,370               2,370                215                   25,029              25,244            2,664              30,278              
Accumulated depreciation at 30 June 2018                      -                          -   (40)                    (3,615)               (3,655)                                  -                  (3,655)

               2,370                  2,370                     175                21,414              21,589                2,664                26,623 
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(b) Plant and Equipment

Plant 
machinery and 

equipment

Fixtures fittings 
and furniture

Work in 
Progress

Total plant and 
equipment

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
At fair value 1 July 2017 9,404               993                                         37 10,434              
Accumulated depreciation at 1 July 2017 (4,177)              (737)                                         -   (4,914)               

               5,227                     256                       37 5,520                
Movements in fair value
Additions                   598                       96                         3 697                   
Disposal                  (457)                        -                          -   (457)                  
Transfers                      -                         37                     (37) -

141                  133                   (34)                    240                   
Movements in accumulated depreciation
Depreciation                  (700)                     (94)                        -   (794)                  
Accumulated depreciation of disposals                   354                        -                          -   354                   

(346)                 (94)                                           -   (440)                  

At fair value 30 June 2018 9,545               1,126                                        3 10,674              
Accumulated depreciation at 30 June 2018 (4,523)              (831)                                         -   (5,354)               

5,022               295                                           3 5,320                
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(c) Infrastructure

Roads Bridges
Footpaths and 

cycleways
Drainage

Kerb & 
Channel

Other 
Infrastructure

Work In 
Progress

Total 
Infrastructure

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
At fair value 1 July 2017 120,281           6,546                6,475                6,220                18,802            9,883              978                   169,185           
Accumulated depreciation at 1 July 2017 (30,482)            (873)                  (3,168)               (1,996)               (4,219)             (2,378)                                    -   (43,116)            

89,799             5,673                3,307                4,224                14,583            7,505              978                   126,069           
Movements in fair value
Additions                2,339                        -                       223                       75                   217                   632                       82                3,568 
Revaluation                      -                       523                        -                         -                        -                        -                          -                     523 
Transfers                   140                        -                          -                         -                        -                     469                   (609) -

2,479               523                   223                   75                     217                 1,101              (527)                  4,091               
Movements in accumulated depreciation
Depreciation               (2,664)                     (70)                   (157)                     (78)                 (236)                 (413)                        -                 (3,618)
Impairment losses recognised in operating result 
by reduction of the asset revaluation reserve                      -                  (1,283)                        -                         -                        -                        -                          -                 (1,283)

(2,664)              (1,353)               (157)                  (78)                    (236)                (413)                                       -   (4,901)              

At fair value 30 June 2018            122,760                  7,069                  6,698                  6,295              19,019              10,984                     451            173,276 
Accumulated depreciation at 30 June 2018             (33,146)                (2,226)                (3,325)                (2,074)              (4,455)              (2,791)                        -               (48,017)

89,614             4,843                3,373                4,221                14,564            8,193              451                   125,259           

Page 32 of 43



Hindmarsh Shire Council
2017/2018 Financial Report

Acquisition

Land under roads

Depreciation and amortisation

Finance leases

Repairs and maintenance

Leasehold improvements

Valuation of land and buildings 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Date of Valuation
$'000 $'000 $'000

Land                          -                      2,370                          -   Jun-15
Specialised land                          -                            -                            -   Jun-15
Land Improvements                          -                            -                            -   Jun-15
Heritage Buildings                          -                            -                         197 Jun-15
Buildings                          -                            -                    21,409 Jun-15
Building improvements                          -                            -                            -   Jun-15
Total                          -                      2,370                  21,606 

Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2018

Valuation of land and buildings were undertaken by a qualified independent valuer Ben Sawyer, certified practicing valuer AAPI Registration 63163
from Preston Rowe Patterson Horsham & Wimmera Pty Ltd. The valuation of land and buildings is at fair value, being market value based on highest
and best use permitted by relevant land planning provisions. Where land use is restricted through existing planning provisions the valuation is
reduced to reflect this limitation. This adjustment is an unobservable input in the valuation. The adjustment has no impact on the comprehensive
income statement.  

Land is valued at fair value using site values adjusted for englobo (undeveloped and/or unserviced) characteristics, access rights and private interests
of other parties and entitlements of infrastructure assets and services. This adjustment is an unobservable input in the valuation. The adjustment
has no impact on the comprehensive income statement.

Any significant movements in the unobservable inputs for land and land under roads will have a significant impact on the fair value of these assets.

The date of the current valuation is detailed in the following table.  A full revaluation of these assets will be conducted in 2018/19.

Details of the Council’s  land and buildings and information about the fair value hierarchy as  at 30 June 2018 are as follows:

The purchase method of accounting is used for all acquisitions of assets, being the fair value of assets provided as consideration at the date of
acquisition plus any incidental costs attributable to the acquisition. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset (or paid to transfer a
liability) in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.

Where assets are constructed by Council, cost includes all materials used in construction, direct labour, borrowing costs incurred during construction,
and an appropriate share of directly attributable variable and fixed  overheads.

In accordance with Council's policy, the threshold limits have applied when recognising assets within an applicable asset class and unless otherwise
stated are consistent with the prior year.

Buildings, land improvements, plant and equipment, infrastructure, and other assets having limited useful lives are systematically depreciated over
their useful lives to the Council in a manner which reflects consumption of the service potential embodied in those assets. Estimates of remaining
useful lives and residual values are made on a regular basis with major asset classes reassessed annually. Depreciation rates and methods are
reviewed annually.

Where assets have separate identifiable components that are subject to regular replacement, these components are assigned distinct useful lives
and residual values and a separate depreciation rate is determined for each component.

Road earthworks are not depreciated on the basis that they are assessed as not having a limited useful life.
Straight line depreciation is charged based on the residual useful life as determined each year.
Depreciation periods used are listed previously and are consistent with the prior year unless otherwise stated.

Council recognises land under roads it controls, acquired after 1 July 2008, at fair value.  

Leases of assets where substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the asset are transferred to the Council are classified as
finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised, recording an asset and a liability at the lower of the fair value of the asset and the present value of
the minimum lease payments, including any guaranteed residual value. Lease payments are allocated between the reduction of the lease liability
and the interest expense. Leased assets are depreciated on a straight line basis over their estimated useful lives to the Council where it is likely that
the Council will obtain ownership of the asset or over the term of the lease, whichever is the shorter.  At balance date Council has no finance leases.

Where the repair relates to the replacement of a component of an asset and the cost exceeds the capitalisation threshold the cost is capitalised and
depreciated.  The carrying value of the replaced asset is expensed. 

Leasehold improvements are recognised at cost and are amortised over the unexpired period of the lease or the estimated useful life of the
improvement, whichever is the shorter.  At balance date Council has no leasehold improvements.

Page 33 of 43



Hindmarsh Shire Council
2017/2018 Financial Report

Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2018

Valuation of infrastructure

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Date of Valuation
$'000 $'000 $'000

Roads                          -                            -                    89,613 Jun-17
Bridges                          -                            -                      4,841 Jun-18
Footpaths and cycleways                          -                            -                      3,373 Jun-18
Drainage                          -                            -                      4,221 Jun-18
Kerb & Channel                          -                            -                    14,565 Jun-17
Other infrastructure                          -                            -                      8,193 Jun-18
Total                          -                            -                  124,806 

Specialised buildings are valued using a depreciated replacement cost technique. Significant unobservable inputs include the current replacement
cost and remaining useful lives of buildings. Current replacement costs is calculated on a square metre basis and ranges from $300 to $2,600 per
square metre. The remaining useful lives of buildings are determined on the basis of the current condition of buildings and vary from 5 years to 75
years. Replacement cost is sensitive to changes in market conditions, with any increase or decrease in cost flowing through to the valuation. Useful
lives of buildings are sensitive to changes in expectations or requirements that could either shorten or extend the useful lives of buildings.

Infrastructure assets are valued based on the depreciated replacement cost. Significant unobservable inputs include the current replacement
cost and remaining useful lives of infrastructure. The remaining useful lives of infrastructure assets are determined on the basis of the current
condition of the asset and vary from 10 years to 100 years. Replacement cost is sensitive to changes in market conditions, with any increase or
decrease in cost flowing through to the valuation. Useful lives of infrastructure are sensitive to changes in use, expectations or requirements that
could either shorten or extend the useful lives of infrastructure assets.

Description of significant unobservable inputs into level 3 valuations

Valuation of road and kerb and channel assets has been determined in accordance with an independent valuation undertaken by Talis Consultants
Pty Ltd. An independent valuation of bridges has been undertaken, by Pitt & Sherry. The valuation of all other infrastructure assets has been
determined by Mr Shane Power, Director of Infrastructure Services.

The date of the current valuation is detailed in the following table. 

The valuation is at fair value based on replacement cost less accumulated depreciation as at the date of valuation.

Details of the Council’s infrastructure and information about the fair value hierarchy as  at 30 June 2018 are as follows:
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2018 2017
5.2 Investments in associates, joint arrangements and subsidiaries $'000 $'000

(a) Investments in associates
Investments in associates accounted for by the equity method are:
  -  Wimmera Regional Library Corporation 378                   386                   
  -  Wimmera Development Association 102                   65                     

Wimmera Regional Library Corporation
Background
Hindmarsh Shire Council, in conjunction with Horsham Rural City Council, Buloke
Shire Council, Northern Grampians Shire Council, West Wimmera Shire Council and
Yarriambiack Shire Council, have an interest in the Wimmera Regional Library
Corporation

Hindmarsh Shire has a 13.16% interest in equity (13.19% in 2016/17)
Fair value of Council's investment in Wimmera Regional Library Corporation 378                   386                   

Council's share of accumulated surplus/(deficit)
Council's share of accumulated surplus(deficit) at start of year 159                   172                   
Change in equity share apportionment -                        13                     
Reported surplus(deficit) for year (8)                     (25)                   
Transfers (to) from reserves -                        (1)                     

    Council's share of accumulated surplus(deficit) at end of year 151                   159                   
Council's share of reserves

Council's share of reserves at start of year 227                   208                   
Change in equity share apportionment (1)                     18                     
Transfers (to) from reserves -                        1                       

    Council's share of reserves at end of year 226                   227                   
Movement in carrying value of specific investment

Carrying value of investment at start of year 387                   385                   
Change in equity share apportionment -                        27                     
Share of surplus(deficit) for year (9)                     (25)                   

    Carrying value of investment at end of year 378                   387                   

Wimmera Development Association
Background
Hindmarsh Shire Council, in conjunction with Horsham Rural City Council, Northern
Grampians Shire Council, West Wimmera Shire Council and Yarriambiack Shire
Council, have an interest in the Wimmera Development Association

Hindmarsh Shire has a 10.34% interest in equity (10.34% in 2016/17)
Fair value of Council's investment in Wimmera Development Association 102                   65                     

Council's share of accumulated surplus/(deficit)
Council's share of accumulated surplus(deficit) at start of year 41                     34                     
Change in equity share apportionment -                        (2)                     
Reported surplus(deficit) for year 37                     16                     

Transfers (to) from reserves -                        (7)                     
    Council's share of accumulated surplus(deficit) at end of year 78                     41                     
Council's share of reserves

Council's share of reserves at start of year 23                     14                     
Change in equity share apportionment 1                       2                       
Transfers (to) from reserves -                        7                       

    Council's share of reserves at end of year 24                     23                     
Movement in carrying value of specific investment

Carrying value of investment at start of year 64                     48                     
Share of surplus(deficit) for year 38                     16                     

    Carrying value of investment at end of year 102                   64                     

Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2018

Associates are all entities over which Council has significant influence but not control or joint control. Investments in associates are 
accounted for using the equity method of accounting, after initially being recognised at cost. 
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2018 2017
Note 6 People and relationships No. No.

6.1 Council and key management remuneration

(a) Related Parties

Parent entity
Hindmarsh Shire Council is the parent entity.

Subsidiaries and Associates
Interests in subsidiaries and associates are detailed in Note 5.2.

(b) Key Management Personnel

Councillors Councillor D.Nelson (Mayor July-October 2017)
Councillor R.Ismay (Mayor November-June 2018)
Councillor R.Lowe (Deputy Mayor) 
Councillor R. Gersch
Councillor T.Schneider 
Councillor D.Colbert

Total Number of Councillors 6                       7                            

Chief Executive Officer and other Key Management Personnel 4                       3                            
Total Key Management Personnel 10                     10                          

(c) Remuneration of Key Management Personnel $ '000 $ '000

Total remuneration of key management personnel was as follows:
Short-term benefits 716                   625                        
Long-term benefits -                       14                          
Termination benefits 22                     -                             
Total 738                   639                        

No. No.

$1 - $9,999 -                       1                            
$10,000 - $19,999 -                       1                            

4                       4                            
1                       -                             
1                       -                             
-                       1                            

$70,000 - $79,999 1                       -                             
$130,000 - $139,999 1                       -                             
$140,000 - $149,999 -                       -                             

1                       2                            
$160,000 - $169,999 -                       1                            

$170,000 - $199,999 -                       -                             
$200,000 - $229,999 -                       -                             
$230,000 - $239,999 1                       -                             

10                     10                          

Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2018

The numbers of key management personnel whose total remuneration from Council and any
related entities, fall within the following bands:

$20,000 - $29,999
$30,000 - $39,999
$50,000 - $59,999

$150,000 - $159,999

Details of persons holding the position of Councillor or other members of key management personnel at any time during the year are:

$60,000 - $69,999
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6.2 Related party disclosure

Council entered into purchases of materials and services on normal commercial terms and
arrangements with the following businesses:

The following balances are outstanding at the end of the reporting period in relation to
transactions with related parties

There are no outstanding balances with related parties at 30 June 2018.

(b) Outstanding balances with related parties 

(a) Transactions with related parties 

During the period Council entered into the following transactions with related parties.

T.Ismay & Co (a related party to Cr R. Ismay) - $4,052 during the 2017/18 financial year ($6,624
in 2016/17).

Jim's Butchery (a related party to Cr R. Gersch) - $1,369 during the 2017/18 financial year ($781
in 2016/17).
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Note 7 Managing uncertainties
7.1 Contingent assets and liabilities

Operating lease receivables

2018 2017
$'000 $'000

Not later than one year                         55                         60 
Later than one year and not later than five years                       130                       171 
Later than five years                       113                         95 

                      298                       326 

(b) Contingent liabilities
Superannuation

Future superannuation contributions

7.2

Financial Instruments - Disclosures (AASB 7) (applies 2018/19)

Financial Instruments (AASB 9) (applies 2018/19)

(c) Guarantees for loans to other entities

The amount disclosed for financial guarantee in this note is the nominal amount of the underlying loan that is guaranteed by the Council, not the
fair value of the financial guarantee.

The following new AAS's have been issued that are not mandatory for the 30 June 2018 reporting period. Council has assessed these pending
standards and has identified the following potential impacts will flow from the application of these standards in future reporting periods.

This Standard requires entities to provide disclosures in their financial statements that enable users to evaluate: (a) the significance of financial
instruments for the entity’s financial position and performance; and (b) the nature and extent of risks arising from financial instruments to which the entity
is exposed.

The key changes include the simplified requirements for the classification and measurement of financial assets, a new hedging accounting model and a
revised impairment loss model to recognise impairment losses earlier, as opposed to the current approach that recognises impairment only when
incurred.

Council holds financial guarantees totalling $131,000 held with the National Australia Bank on behalf of the Minister for Energy and resources for
the purpose of ensuring quarry sites are restored to an environmentally satisfactory condition. If Council fail to meet the conditions of these
guarantees they may become future liabilities to Council.

In addition to the disclosed contributions, Council has paid unfunded liability payments to Vision Super totalling $0 during the 2017/18 year
(2016/17 $0 paid ). There were no contributions outstanding and no loans issued from or to the above schemes as at 30 June 2018. The
expected contributions to be paid to the Defined Benefit category of Vision Super for the year ending 30 June 2019 are $71,000 .

Council has obligations under a defined benefit superannuation scheme that may result in the need to make additional contributions to the
scheme, matters relating to this potential obligation are outlined below. As a result of the volatility in financial markets the likelihood of making
such contributions in future periods exists. 

Council receives lease payments for telephone towers, small sections of land, and rooms within Council owned buildings. The receivable is
incidental to the purpose for holding the property. The lease terms are between 1 and 10 years and include a CPI based revision annually.

Future minimum rentals receivable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

The standard shifts the focus from the transaction-level to a contract-based approach. Recognition is determined based on what the customer
expects to be entitled to (rights and obligations), while measurement encompasses estimation by the entity of the amount expected to be entitled
for performing under the contract. The full impact of this standard is not known however it is most likely to impact where contracts extend over
time, where there are rights and obligations that may vary the timing or amount of the consideration, or where there are multiple performance
elements.  This has the potential to impact on the recognition of certain grant income. 

Change in accounting standards

Revenue from contracts with customers (AASB 15) (applies 2019/20 for LG sector)
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Income of Not-for-Profit Entities (AASB 1058 ) (applies 2019/20)

7.3 Financial instruments
(a)  Objectives and policies

(b) Market risk

Interest rate risk

 - diversification of investment product;
 - monitoring of return on investment; and
 - benchmarking of returns and comparison with budget.

(c) Credit risk

 - council have a policy for establishing credit limits for the entities Council deal with; 
 - council may require collateral where appropriate; and

There are no material financial assets which are individually determined to be impaired.

Credit risk is the risk that a contracting entity will not complete its obligations under a financial instrument and cause Council to make a financial
loss. Council have exposure to credit risk on some financial assets included in the balance sheet. To help manage this risk:

Receivables consist of a large number of customers, spread across the ratepayer, business and government sectors. Credit risk associated with
the Council's financial assets is minimal because the main debtor is secured by a charge over the rateable property. 

 - council only invest surplus funds with financial institutions which have a recognised credit rating specified in council's investment policy.

Council may also be subject to credit risk for transactions which are not included in the balance sheet, such as when Council provide a guarantee
for another party. Details of our contingent liabilities are disclosed in Note 7.1(b).

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date to recognised financial assets is the carrying amount, net of any provisions for
impairment of those assets, as disclosed in the balance sheet and notes to the financial statements. Council does not hold any collateral.

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Deferral of AASB 15 for Not-for-Profit Entities (AASB 2016-7) (applies 2019/20)

This Standard defers the mandatory effective date of AASB 15 for not-for-profit entities from 1 January 2018 to 1 January 2019.

Interest rate movements have not been sufficiently significant during the year to have an impact on the Council's year end result.

Leases (AASB 16) (applies 2019/20)
The classification of leases as either finance leases or operating leases is eliminated for lessees. Leases will be recognised in the Balance Sheet
by capitalising the present value of the minimum lease payments and showing a ‘right-of-use’ asset, while future lease payments will be
recognised as a financial liability. The nature of the expense recognised in the profit or loss will change. Rather than being shown as rent, or as
leasing costs, it will be recognised as depreciation on the ‘right-of-use’ asset, and an interest charge on the lease liability. The interest charge will
be calculated using the effective interest method, which will result in a gradual reduction of interest expense over the lease term.

The Council's principal financial instruments comprise cash assets, term deposits, receivables (excluding statutory receivables), payables
(excluding statutory payables) and bank borrowings. Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for
recognition, the basis of measurement and the basis on which income and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class of financial asset,
financial liability and equity instrument is disclosed in the Notes of the financial statements. Risk management is carried out by senior
management under policies approved by the Council. These policies include identification and analysis of the risk exposure to Council and
appropriate procedures, controls and risk minimisation.

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of council financial instruments will fluctuate because of changes in market prices.
The Council's exposure to market risk is primarily through interest rate risk with only insignificant exposure to other price risks and no exposure to
foreign currency risk. 

Interest rate risk refers to the risk that the value of a financial instrument or cash flows associated with the instrument will fluctuate due to changes
in market interest rates. Council does not hold any interest bearing financial instruments that are measured at fair value, and therefore has no
exposure to fair value interest rate risk. Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates. Council has minimal exposure to cash flow interest rate risk through its cash and deposits that are at
floating rates. 

Investment of surplus funds is made with approved financial institutions under the Local Government Act 1989 . Council manages interest rate risk
by adopting an investment policy that ensures:

There has been no significant change in the Council's exposure, or its objectives, policies and processes for managing interest rate risk or the
methods used to measure this risk from the previous reporting period.

This standard replaces AASB 1004 Contributions and establishes revenue recognition principles for transactions where the consideration to acquire an
asset is significantly less than fair value to enable to not-for-profit entity to further its objectives.
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(d) Liquidity risk

To help reduce these risks Council:
 - have a liquidity policy which targets a minimum and average level of cash and cash equivalents to be maintained;
 - have readily accessible standby facilities and other funding arrangements in place;
 - have a liquidity portfolio structure that requires surplus funds to be invested within various bands of liquid instruments;
 - monitor budget to actual performance on a regular basis; and
 - set limits on borrowings relating to the percentage of loans to rate revenue and percentage of loan principal repayments to rate revenue.

Unless otherwise stated, the carrying amounts of financial instruments reflect their fair value.

(e) Sensitivity disclosure analysis

 - A parallel shift of +2.0% and -1.0% in market interest rates (AUD) from year-end rates of 2.4%.

7.4 Fair value measurement

Revaluation

Taking into account past performance, future expectations, economic forecasts, and management's knowledge and experience of the financial markets,
Council believes the following movements are 'reasonably possible' over the next 12 months:

These movements will not have a material impact on the valuation of Council's financial assets and liabilities, nor will they have a material impact on the
results of Council's operations.

Council's financial assets and liabilities are not valued in accordance with the fair value hierarchy , Council's financial assets and liabilities are measured
at amortised cost. 

In addition, Council undertakes a formal revaluation of land, buildings, and infrastructure assets on a regular basis ranging from 3 to 4 years. The
valuation is performed either by experienced council officers or independent experts.

Where the assets are revalued, the revaluation increments are credited directly to the asset revaluation reserve except to the extent that an increment
reverses a prior year decrement for that class of asset that had been recognised as an expense in which case the increment is recognised as revenue up
to the amount of the expense. Revaluation decrements are recognised as an expense except where prior increments are included in the asset
revaluation reserve for that class of asset in which case the decrement is taken to the reserve to the extent of the remaining increments. Within the same
class of assets, revaluation increments and decrements within the year are offset.

Liquidity risk includes the risk that, as a result of council's operational liquidity requirements it will not have sufficient funds to settle a transaction when
required or will be forced to sell a financial asset at below value or may be unable to settle or recover a financial asset.

The Council's maximum exposure to liquidity risk is the carrying amounts of financial liabilities as disclosed on the face of the balance sheet and the
amounts related to financial guarantees disclosed in Note 7.1(c), and is deemed insignificant based on prior periods' data and current assessment of risk.

There has been no significant change in Council's exposure, or its objectives, policies and processes for managing liquidity risk or the methods used to
measure this risk from the previous reporting period.

Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2018

With the exception of borrowings, all financial liabilities are expected to be settled within normal terms of trade.  

Fair value hierarchy
Council's financial assets and liabilities are not valued in accordance with the fair value hierarchy , Council's financial assets and liabilities are measured
at amortised cost. 

Council measures certain assets and liabilities at fair value where required or permitted by Australian Accounting Standards. AASB 13 Fair value
measurement, aims to improve consistency and reduce complexity by providing a definition of fair value and a single source of fair value measurement
and disclosure requirements for use across Australian Accounting Standards.

AASB 13 defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. Fair value under AASB 13 is an exit price regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. 

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within a fair value hierarchy, described as
follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is directly or indirectly observable; and
Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is unobservable.
For the purpose of fair value disclosures, Council has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of 
the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy as explained above.

In addition, Council determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.
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Impairment of assets

7.5 Events occurring after balance date 
No matters have occurred after balance date that require disclosure in the financial report.

Note 8 Other matters

8.1 Reserves

Balance at
beginning of 

reporting period
Increment 

(decrement)

Share of increment 
(decrement) on 

revaluation by an 
associate

Balance at end of 
reporting period

(a) Asset revaluation reserves $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

2018
Property
Land & land improvements 1,639                         -                                 -                                 1,639                         
Buildings 9,827                         -                                 -                                 9,827                         

11,466                       -                                 -                                 11,466                       
Infrastructure
Roads 86,443                       -                                 -                                 86,443                       
Bridges 978                            (760)                           -                                 218                            
Footpaths and cycleways 1,479                         -                                 -                                 1,479                         
Drainage 2,416                         -                                 -                                 2,416                         
Other infrastructure 602                            -                                 -                                 602                            
Share of Asset Revaluation in Associates 28                              -                                 -                                 28                              

91,946                       (760)                           -                                 91,186                       
Total asset revaluation reserves 103,412                     (760)                           -                                 102,652                     

2017
Property
Land & land improvements 1,639                         -                                 -                                 1,639                         
Buildings 9,827                         -                                 -                                 9,827                         

11,466                       -                                 -                                 11,466                       
Infrastructure
Roads 41,580                       44,863                       -                                 86,443                       
Bridges 978                            -                                 -                                 978                            
Footpaths and cycleways 1,479                         -                                 -                                 1,479                         
Drainage 2,416                         -                                 -                                 2,416                         
Other infrastructure 602                            -                                 -                                 602                            
Share of Asset Revaluation in Associates 28                              -                                 -                                 28                              

47,083                       44,863                       -                                 91,946                       
Total asset revaluation reserves 58,549                       44,863                       -                                 103,412                     

The asset revaluation reserve is used to record the increased (net) value of Council's assets over time.

At each reporting date, the Council reviews the carrying value of its assets to determine whether there is any indication that these assets have been
impaired. If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset, being the higher of the asset's fair value less costs of disposal and value in
use, is compared to the assets carrying value. Any excess of the assets carrying value over its recoverable amount is expensed to the comprehensive
income statement, unless the asset is carried at the revalued amount in which case, the impairment loss is recognised directly against the revaluation
surplus in respect of the same class of asset to the extent that the impairment loss does not exceed the amount in the revaluation surplus for that same
class of asset.
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2018 2017
8.2 Reconciliation of cash flows from operating activities to surplus/(deficit) $'000 $'000

Surplus/(deficit) for the year 891                        4,538                     
Depreciation/amortisation 4,836                     5,288                     
Profit on disposal of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment (47)                        36                          
Other (30)                        9                            

Change in assets and liabilities:
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables 135                        179                        
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments (56)                        (20)                        
Increase/(decrease) in accrued income 64                          -                             
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables (83)                        (14)                        
(Increase)/decrease in inventories (90)                        (5)                           
Increase/(decrease) in provisions 101                        (11)                        
Increase/(Decrease) in trust funds and deposits 170                        5                            
Increase/(Decrease) in accrued expenses 11                          (41)                        
Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 5,902                     9,964                     

8.3 Superannuation

Accumulation

Defined Benefit

 
Funding arrangements

Net investment returns 6.5% pa
Salary information 3.5% pa
Price inflation (CPI) 2.5% pa.

The VBI is to be used as the primary funding indicator. Because the VBI was above 100%, the 30 June 2017 actuarial
investigation determined the Defined Benefit category was in a satisfactory financial position and that no change was
necessary to the Defined Benefit category’s funding arrangements from prior years.

Council makes the majority of its employer superannuation contributions in respect of its employees to the Local
Authorities Superannuation Fund (the Fund). This Fund has two categories of membership, accumulation and defined
benefit, each of which is funded differently. Obligations for contributions to the Fund are recognised as an expense in
the Comprehensive Income Statement when they are made or due.

The Fund's accumulation categories, Vision MySuper/Vision Super Saver, receive both employer and employee
contributions on a progressive basis. Employer contributions are normally based on a fixed percentage of employee
earnings (for the year ended 30 June 2018, this was 9.5% as required under Superannuation Guarantee legislation).   

Council does not use defined benefit accounting for its defined benefit obligations under the Fund's Defined Benefit
category. This is because the Fund's Defined Benefit category is a pooled multi-employer sponsored plan. 

There is no proportional split of the defined benefit liabilities, assets or costs between the participating employers as
the defined benefit obligation is a floating obligation between the participating employers and the only time that the
aggregate obligation is allocated to specific employers is when a call is made. As a result, the level of participation of
Council in the Fund cannot be measured as a percentage compared with other participating employers. Therefore, the
Fund Actuary is unable to allocate benefit liabilities, assets and costs between employers for the purposes of AASB
119.

Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2018

Council makes employer contributions to the Defined Benefit category of the Fund at rates determined by the Trustee
on the advice of the Fund Actuary.  

As at 30 June 2017, a full triennial actuarial investigation was completed. The vested benefit index (VBI) of the
Defined Benefit category of which Council is a contributing employer was 103.1%. To determine the VBI, the Fund
Actuary used the following long-term assumptions:

Vision Super has advised that the estimated VBI at 30 June 2018 was 106.0%. 
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Employer contributions
Regular contributions

Funding calls

2017 triennial actuarial investigation surplus amounts

A VBI surplus of $69.8 million
A total service liability surplus of $193.5 million. 
A discounted accrued benefits surplus of $228.8 million. 

2018 interim actuarial investigation

If the Defined Benefit category is in an unsatisfactory financial position at an actuarial investigation or the Defined
Benefit category‘s VBI is below its shortfall limit at any time other than the date of the actuarial investigation, the
Defined Benefit category has a shortfall for the purposes of SPS 160 and the Fund is required to put a plan in place so
that the shortfall is fully funded within three years of the shortfall occurring. The Fund monitors its VBI on a quarterly
basis and the Fund has set its shortfall limit at 97%. 

In the event that the Fund Actuary determines that there is a shortfall based on the above requirement, the Fund’s
participating employers (including Council) are required to make an employer contribution to cover the shortfall. Using
the agreed methodology, the shortfall amount is apportioned between the participating employers based on the pre-1
July 1993 and post-30 June 1993 service liabilities of the Fund’s Defined Benefit category, together with the employer’s
payroll at 30 June 1993 and at the date the shortfall has been calculated. 

Due to the nature of the contractual obligations between the participating employers and the Fund, and that the Fund
includes lifetime pensioners and their reversionary beneficiaries, it is unlikely that the Fund will be wound up. If there is
a surplus in the Fund, the surplus cannot be returned to the participating employers. In the event that a participating
employer is wound-up, the defined benefit obligations of that employer will be transferred to that employer’s successor.

The Fund’s triennial investigation as at 30 June 2017 identified the following in the defined benefit category of which
Council is a contributing employer:

The VBI surplus means that the market value of the fund’s assets supporting the defined benefit obligations exceed the 
vested benefits that the defined benefit members would have been entitled to if they had all exited on 30 June 2017. 

An interim actuarial investigation will be conducted for the Fund’s position as at 30 June 2018. It is anticipated that this
actuarial investigation will be completed in December 2018.

On the basis of the results of the 2017 triennial actuarial investigation conducted by the Fund Actuary, Council makes
employer contributions to the Fund’s Defined Benefit category at rates determined by the Fund’s Trustee. For the year
ended 30 June 2018, this rate was 9.5% of members' salaries (9.5% in 2016/2017). This rate will increase in line with
any increases in the SG contribution rate. In addition, Council reimburses the Fund to cover the excess of the benefits
paid as a consequence of retrenchment above the funded resignation or retirement benefit.
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Our Municipality 
Hindmarsh Shire is located in the Wimmera region in western Victoria and covers an 
area of 7,527km2. Situated on the Western Highway, 375km west of Melbourne and 
350km east of Adelaide, Hindmarsh Shire is alive with business opportunities as it lies 
on the second-busiest freight corridor in Australia. 
 

Our Shire is bound by two National Parks, the Little Desert in the South and Wyperfeld 
in the North. Other distinct natural features include the Big Desert Wilderness Area to 
the West, as well as the Wimmera River and Lakes Hindmarsh and Albacutya. The 
central part of the Shire is utilised primarily for broad acre cropping and grazing.  
 

Hindmarsh Shire’s four main towns are Nhill, Dimboola, Jeparit and Rainbow. Each 
community has its own spirit and identity, but all towns offer spacious rural living, 
inclusive small communities, and wonderful natural amenities.   
 

The first Australians in the Hindmarsh area were the Wotjobaluk people. Communities 
were located near the Nhill Swamp, the Wimmera River at Dimboola, Lake Hindmarsh 
near Jeparit and Lake Albacutya near Rainbow, while the majority made their home 
along the Red Gum lined banks of the Wimmera River and Nine Creeks area in 
Dimboola.  
 

Today it is estimated, 5,677 people live in Hindmarsh Shire, with a median age of 50 
years. 83% of people in Hindmarsh Shire were born in Australia, with English the only 
language spoken in 88% of homes. Our most significant group of migrants are Karen 
refugees from Burma (Myanmar), with approximately 190 calling Nhill home. 
 

The median weekly household income is $1,131, and most people own their homes 
outright. Most people are employed in farming, with employment in health care coming 
a close second, followed by retail, manufacturing, education and transport. Hindmarsh 
has a very high rate of volunteering, 18% higher than the national average. 
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 Results Results Results Results  
Indicator/measure 2015 2016 2017 2018 Material Variations 

Own-source revenue       
No material variation Own-source revenue per 

head of municipal population 
$1,661 $1,811 $1,880 $1,891 

 [Own-source revenue / 
Municipal population] 

    

Recurrent grants       
The variation is due to a 
reduction in 
commonwealth 
recurrent grants. 

Recurrent grants per head of 
municipal population 

$1,330 $916 $1,601 $1,200 

 [Recurrent grants / Municipal 
population] 

    

Population      
Expenses per head of 
municipal population 

$2,890 $3,089 $3,151 $3,048 No material variations 

 [Total expenses / Municipal 
population] 

    

      
Infrastructure per head of 
municipal population 

$18,805 $19,938 $28,647 $27,273 A reduction in the 
municipal population, 
along with investment in 
Council Infrastructure 
and revaluation of 
assets alters the value 
of infrastructure per 
municipal population. 

 [Value of infrastructure / 
Municipal population] 

    

      
Population density per length 
of road 

1.83 1.73 1.71 1.79 No material variations. 

 [Municipal population / 
Kilometres of local roads] 

    

Disadvantage       
No material variations. Relative socio-economic 

disadvantage 
3 2 2 2 

 [Index of Relative Socio-
economic Disadvantage by 
decile] 

    

Definitions 

"adjusted underlying revenue" means total income other than—  
 (a) non-recurrent grants used to fund capital expenditure; and  
 (b) non-monetary asset contributions; and  
 (c) contributions to fund capital expenditure from sources other than those referred to 
above 

“infrastructure” means non-current property, plant and equipment excluding land 

"local road" means a sealed or unsealed road for which the council is the responsible road 
authority under the Road Management Act 2004 

"population" means the resident population estimated by council 



"own-source revenue" means adjusted underlying revenue other than revenue that is not 
under the control of council (including government grants) 

"relative socio-economic disadvantage", in relation to a municipality, means the relative socio-
economic disadvantage, expressed as a decile for the relevant financial year, of the area in 
which the municipality is located according to the Index of Relative Socio-Economic 
Disadvantage (Catalogue Number 2033.0.55.001) of SEIFA 

"SEIFA" means the Socio-Economic Indexes for Areas published from time to time by the 
Australian Bureau of Statistics on its Internet website 

"unrestricted cash" means all cash and cash equivalents other than restricted cash.  
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 Results Results Results Results  
Service/indicator/measure 2015 2016 2017 2018 Material Variations 

Governance      
 
No material variations. 

Satisfaction      
Satisfaction with council 
decisions 

60 57 58 60 

[Community satisfaction rating 
out of 100 with how council 
has performed in making 
decisions in the interest of the 
community] 

    

Statutory Planning      
 
2 planning matters 
were taken to VCAT 
during 2017/18. VCAT 
upheld 1 of Council’s 
decisions. 

Decision making      
Council planning decisions 
upheld at VCAT 

n/a 100% n/a 50% 

[Number of VCAT decisions 
that did not set aside council’s 
decision in relation to a 
planning application / Number 
of VCAT decisions in relation to 
planning applications] x100 

    

Roads      
 
No material variations. 

Satisfaction      
Satisfaction with sealed local 
roads 

47 45 52 48 

[Community satisfaction rating 
out of 100 with how council has 
performed on the condition of 
sealed local roads] 

    

Libraries      
 
No material variations. 

Participation      
Active library members 14% 11% 10% 9% 
[Number of active library 
members / Municipal 
population] x100 

    

Waste Collection      
 
A reduction in 
kerbside garbage 
collected in 2017/18 
has resulted in the 
variation. Recycling 
collection tonnage in 
2017/18 has remained 
similar to 2016/17. 

Waste diversion     
Kerbside collection waste 
diverted from landfill 

24% 22% 23% 34% 

[Weight of recyclables and 
green organics collected from 
kerbside bins / Weight of 
garbage, recyclables and green 
organics collected from 
kerbside bins] x100 

    

Aquatic facilities      
 
Aquatic facilities for 
the period November 
to March. 

Utilisation     
Utilisation of aquatic facilities 3 3 3 3 
[Number of visits to aquatic 
facilities / Municipal population] 

    

  



 Results Results Results Results Material 
Service/indicator/measure 2015 2016 2017 2018 Variations 

Animal management      
 
No animal 
prosecutions 
during 2017/18. 

Health and safety     
Animal management 
prosecutions 

n/a n/a n/a n/a 

[Number of successful animal 
management prosecutions] 

    

Food safety      
 
Council did not 
receive any 
notifications of 
non-compliance 
during 2017/18. 

Health and safety     
Critical and major non-
compliance notifications 

100% 100% n/a n/a 

[Number of critical non-
compliance notifications and 
major non-compliance 
notifications about a food 
premises followed up / Number 
of critical non-compliance 
notifications and major non-
compliance notifications about 
food premises] x100 

    

Home and community care      
 
Reporting ceased 
on 1 July 2016. 
 
 
 
 
Reporting ceased 
on 1 July 2016 

Participation    
n/a 

 
 
 
 
 
 

n/a 

 
Participation in HACC service 30% 61% n/a 
[Number of people that 
received a HACC service / 
Municipal target population for 
HACC services] x100 

   

    
Participation    
Participation in HACC service 
by CALD people 

31% 60% n/a 

[Number of CALD people who 
receive a HACC service / 
Municipal target population in 
relation to CALD people for 
HACC services] x100 

   

Maternal and child health      
 
Not applicable. 
Council has no 
operational 
control over MCH 
services. 

Participation     
Participation in the MCH 
service 

n/a n/a n/a n/a 

[Number of children who 
attend the MCH service at 
least once (in the year) / 
Number of children enrolled in 
the MCH service] x100 

    

      
 
Not applicable. 
Council has no 
operational 
control over MCH 
services. 

Participation     
Participation in the MCH 
service by Aboriginal children 

n/a n/a n/a n/a 

[Number of Aboriginal children 
who attend the MCH service at 
least once (in the year) / 
Number of Aboriginal children 
enrolled in the MCH service] 
x100 

    

  



Definitions 

"Aboriginal child" means a child who is an Aboriginal person  

"Aboriginal person" has the same meaning as in the Aboriginal Heritage Act 2006   

"active library member" means a member of a library who has borrowed a book from the library  

"annual report" means an annual report prepared by a council under sections 131, 132 and 133 
of the Act  

“class 1 food premises” means food premises, within the meaning of the Food Act 1984, that 
have been declared as class 1 food premises under section 19C of that Act  

“class 2 food premises” means food premises, within the meaning of the Food Act 1984 , that 
have been declared as class 2 food premises under section 19C of that Act  

"Community Care Common Standards "means the Community Care Common Standards for the 
delivery of HACC services, published from time to time by the Commonwealth 

"critical non-compliance outcome notification" means a notification received by council under 
section 19N(3) or (4) of the Food Act 1984 , or advice given to council by an authorized officer 
under that Act, of a deficiency that poses an immediate serious threat to public health  

"food premises" has the same meaning as in the Food Act 1984   

"HACC program" means the Home and Community Care program established under the 
Agreement entered into for the purpose of the Home and Community Care Act 1985 of the 
Commonwealth  

"HACC service" means home help, personal care or community respite provided under the HACC 
program  

"local road" means a sealed or unsealed road for which the council is the responsible road 
authority under the Road Management Act 2004 

"major non-compliance outcome notification" means a notification received by a council under 
section 19N(3) or (4) of the Food Act 1984, or advice given to council by an authorized officer 
under that Act, of a deficiency that does not pose an immediate serious threat to public health but 
may do so if no remedial action is taken  

"MCH" means the Maternal and Child Health Service provided by a council to support the health 
and development of children within the municipality from birth until school age 

"population" means the resident population estimated by council  

"target population" has the same meaning as in the Agreement entered into for the purposes of 
the Home and Community Care Act 1985 of the Commonwealth  

"WorkSafe reportable aquatic facility safety incident" means an incident relating to a council 
aquatic facility that is required to be notified to the Victorian WorkCover Authority under Part 5 of 
the Occupational Health and Safety Act 2004.  



For the year ended 30 June 2018 
 
 Results Results Results Results  Forecasts  
Dimension/indicator/measure 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 Material Variations 
Operating position         The result for this measure 

is expected to decrease 
over the 4 years to 2022. 
The decreasing trend is 
mainly due to the 
introduction of rates 
capping. 

Adjusted underlying result         
Adjusted underlying surplus (or 
deficit) 

5.9% -10.4% 10.8% 2.7% -20.4% -5.5% -10.8% -9.2% 

[Adjusted underlying surplus 
(deficit)/ Adjusted underlying 
revenue] x100 

        

Liquidity          
At 30 June 2018 Council 
held a higher cash 
balance due to the early 
payment of the Financial 
Assistance Grant and a 
number of capital works 
projects not commencing.  

Working capital          
Current assets compared to 
current liabilities 

356.1% 287.9% 414.1% 431.23% 130.0% 94.7% 35.5% -10.2% 

[Current assets / Current 
liabilities] x100 

        

Unrestricted cash 
Unrestricted cash compared to 
current liabilities 

 
204.2% 

 
94.3% 

 
371.4% 

 
393.96% 

 
92.0% 

 
42.0% 

 
-16.1% 

 
-64.0%  

At 30 June 2018 Council 
held cash at bank of 
$11.2m and current 
liabilities of $2.8m; 
2016/17 cash at bank 
$9.6m and current 
liabilities $2.6m. 

[Unrestricted cash / Current 
liabilities] x100 

        

Obligations          
Council do not hold any 
loans or borrowings.  

Loans and borrowings          
Loans and borrowings compared 
to rates 

n/a n/a n/a n/a 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 

[Interest bearing loans and 
borrowings / Rate revenue] x100 

         



 Results Results Results Results  Forecasts  
Dimension/indicator/measure 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 Material Variations 
Loans and borrowings 
Loans and borrowings 
repayments compared to rates 

n/a n/a n/a n/a 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 

 
 
Council do not hold any 
loans or borrowings. [Interest and principal 

repayments on interest bearing 
loans and borrowings / Rate 
revenue] x100 
Indebtedness           

No material variations. Non-current liabilities compared 
to own source revenue 

1.2% 2.3% 2.8% 2.3% 1.7% 1.7% 1.7% 1.7% 

[Non-current liabilities / Own 
source revenue] x100 

        

          
Asset renewal           

Expenditure on Asset 
renewal remains a high 
priority for Council. 

Asset renewal compared to 
depreciation 

50.8% 66.0% 55.6% 57.0% 110.3% 101.3% 86.3% 82.4% 

[Asset renewal expenses / Asset 
depreciation] x100 

        

Stability          
 
The variation is due to 
the reduction in grants 
received during 2017/18.  

Rates concentration          
Rates compared to adjusted 
underlying revenue 

40.9% 50.5% 41.6% 46.9% 57.3% 50.7% 50.8% 50.8% 

[Rate revenue / Adjusted 
underlying revenue] x100 

        

Rates effort           
No material variations. Rates compared to property 

values 
0.6% 0.7% 0.6% 0.6% 0.6% 0.6% 0.6% 0.6% 

[Rate revenue / Capital improved 
value of rateable properties in the 
municipality ] x100 

        

Efficiency          
 
No material variations. 

Expenditure level          
Expenses per property 
assessment 

$3,286 $3,076 $3,331 $3,362 $3,527 $3,549 $3,784 $3,786 

[Total expenses / Number of 
property assessments]  

        

          



 Results Results Results Results  Forecasts  
Dimension/indicator/measure 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 Material Variations 
Revenue level           

No material variations. Average residential rate per 
residential property assessment 

$1,059 $1,107 $1,202 $1,154 $1,181 $1,198 $1,221 $1,238 

[Residential rate revenue / 
Number of residential property 
assessments] 

        

          
Workforce turnover           

Due to Council’s small 
FTE staff, any small 
increase in resignations 
will result in a material 
variation. 
 

Resignations and terminations 
compared to average staff 

16% 13% 11% 18% 6.0% 6.0% 6.0% 6.0% 

[Number of permanent staff 
resignations and terminations / 
Average number of permanent 
staff for the financial year] x100 

        

Definitions 

"adjusted underlying revenue" means total income other than—  
 (a)     non-recurrent grants used to fund capital expenditure; and  
 (b)     non-monetary asset contributions; and  
 (c)     contributions to fund capital expenditure from sources other than those referred to in paragraphs (a) and (b) 

"adjusted underlying surplus (or deficit)" means adjusted underlying revenue less total expenditure 

"asset renewal expenditure" means expenditure on an existing asset or on replacing an existing asset that returns the service capability of the asset 
to its original capability 

“current assets” has the same meaning as in the AAS 

"current liabilities" has the same meaning as in the AAS 

“non-current assets” means all assets other than current assets 

"non-current liabilities" means all liabilities other than current liabilities 

“non-recurrent grant” means a grant obtained on the condition that it be expended in a specified manner and is not expected to be received again 
during the period covered by a council's Strategic Resource Plan 

"own-source revenue" means adjusted underlying revenue other than revenue that is not under the control of council (including government grants 

"population "means the resident population estimated by council 

“rate revenue” means revenue from general rates, municipal charges, service rates and service charges 

"recurrent grant "means a grant other than a non-recurrent grant 



"residential rates" means revenue from general rates, municipal charges, service rates and service charges levied on residential properties 

"restricted cash" means cash and cash equivalents, within the meaning of the AAS, that are not available for use other than for a purpose for which 
it is restricted, and includes cash to be used to fund capital works expenditure from the previous financial year 

"unrestricted cash" means all cash and cash equivalents other than restricted cash.  

 



For the year ended 30 June 2018 
 
 
 
1. Basis of preparation 
Council is required to prepare and include a performance statement within its annual report. 
The performance statement includes the results of the prescribed sustainable capacity, 
service performance and financial performance indicators and measures together with a 
description of the municipal district and an explanation of material variations in the results. 
This statement has been prepared to meet the requirements of the Local Government Act 
1989 and Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2014. 
 
Where applicable the results in the performance statement have been prepared on 
accounting bases consistent with those reported in the Financial Statements. The other 
results are based on information drawn from Council information systems or from third 
parties (e.g. Australian Bureau of Statistics). 
 
The performance statement presents the actual results for the current year and for the 
prescribed financial performance indicators and measures, the results forecast by Council’s 
strategic resource plan. The Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2014 
requires explanation of any material variations in the results contained in the performance 
statement. Council has adopted materiality thresholds relevant to each indicator and 
measure and explanations have not been provided for variations below the materiality 
thresholds unless the variance is conserved to be material because of its nature. 
 
The forecast figures included in the performance statement are those adopted by Council in 
its strategic resource plan on 27 June 2018 which forms part of the council plan. The 
strategic resource plan includes estimates based on key assumptions about the future that 
were relevant at the time of adoption and aimed at achieving sustainability over the long 
term. Detailed information on the actual financial results is contained in the General Purpose 
Financial Statements. The strategic resource plan can be obtained by contacting Council at 
its municipal offices at 92 Nelson Street Nhill, by email to info@hindmarsh.vic.gov.au or 
phone 03 5391 4444.  
 



In my opinion, the accompanying performance statement has been prepared in accordance 
with the Local Government Act 1989 and the Local Government (Planning and Reporting) 
Regulations 2014. 
 
 
 
__________________ 
Ms Monica Revell  
Director Corporate & Community Services 
Dated: 19 September 2018 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying performance statement of the Hindmarsh Shire Council for 
the year ended 30 June 2018 presents fairly the results of council’s performance in 
accordance with the Local Government Act 1989 and the Local Government (Planning and 
Reporting) Regulations 2014. 
 
The performance statement contains the relevant performance indicators, measures and 
results in relation to service performance, financial performance and sustainable capacity. 
 
At the date of signing, we are not aware of any circumstances that would render any 
particulars in the performance statement to be misleading or inaccurate. 
 
We have been authorised by the council and by the Local Government (Planning and 
Reporting) Regulations 2014 to certify this performance statement in its final form. 

 
 
 
__________________ 
Mr Ron Ismay 
Councillor 
Dated: 19 September 2018 
 
 
 
 
__________________ 
Mr Ronald Lowe 
Councillor 
Dated: 19 September 2018 
 
 
 
 
__________________ 
Mr Greg Wood 
Chief Executive Officer 
Dated: 19 September 2018 

 



Rainbow Town Committee Meeting Monday 27thAugust 2018
Held at Civic Centre Small Meeting room @7.30pm
Visiting: Mayor Cr Ron Ismay and Liaison Officer Wayne Schulz,
Members attending: Michael Sullivan, Ross Heinrich, Bill Hutson, Greg Roberts, Adrian Bennet,
Phillip Molesworth, Leonie Clarke.
Chairperson: declares meeting open and welcome to all attending.
Apologies: Peta Bennet, Ben Gosling and Dianne Dickson.
Motion: to accept apologies
Moved: Leonie Clarke / Phillip Molesworth - carried

Declaration by members of any conflict of interest in any item of the agenda, either,

 Direct; or
 Indirect interest of one of five types;
1. a close association;
2. an indirect financial interest;
3. a conflicting duty;
4. an applicable gift or
5. a party to the matter in any term on the agenda
6. An impact on residential amenity.

Chairman requests members declare any known conflicts of and/or pecuniary interests.

Minutes from July as circulated.
Business arising: from last meeting. No
Motion: to adopt circulated July minutes as correct
Moved: Michael Sullivan / Phillip Molesworth - carried

Treasures report
24/07/18 – 27/08/18
Opening Balance $36,411.14
Income $2,040.60
Payments $2.083.10
Closing Balance $36,368.64
Income Payments
Rainbow Desert Enduro $2,040.60                Rainbow Desert Enduro $2,003.10

Rainbow Civic Centre    $ 80.00
Rainbow Town Committee Projects & Commitments
Day on the Lake $816.75
Lawn $802.75
Pella Project $282.29
Grave Seat $50.00

1



Open Spaces project $422.37(reallocated to TV info station)
Town Traders $3,017.38
Men’s Shed $2600.00
Historic Film Farming in the Mallee $710.00 (Drought Response Funding)
Rainbow Desert Enduro $6,998.50
New Residence BBQ 2017 $57.71
Hindmarsh Shire Grant 2017:$6,500.00 (Unallocated).

Silo Art Trail $7,400 (transferred from Pella Project)
Town Entrance Project $3,000.00
Project Funds $30,057.75

Uncommitted funds $6,310.89

Cheque Account $36,344.74
Petty Cash Account $23.90

Account TV when invoiced
Rainbow Desert Enduro

Motion: to receive treasures report and pass accounts for payment.
Moved: Adrian Bennet / Leonie Clarke – carried

Cr Report: Mayor Cr Ron Ismay
 Kinder garden has a new service.
 Was concerned that Lamatina Carrot Company were trying to get authorisation to run road

trains on some roads
 Attended rail freight meeting Mayor stated the main reason for going was that Council has to

make a decision re continuing membership or not, rail freight want to lift axle weights between
Rainbow lines to Portland in some areas. They indicated that they were trying to get the
Rainbow to Dimboola line network upgraded as well. This would result in to freight savings of up
to $10 per ton.

 Attended Western Highway action group meeting and complained about rumble strips again,
also complained about the road near the salt flats out from Jeparit.

Motion: to receive Cr Report
Moved: Adrian Bennet / Greg Roberts - carried

Liaison Officer Report: Wayne Schulz
 Public comments for tree strategy closed last Friday however if you did have any comments

Janette would probably still take them.
 Seniors Month coming think it is 24th October with Jade Hurley there would be buses running to

Nhill
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 Home Care area we are having trouble getting enough local workers so we are currently
accessing them from Nhill & Dimboola, if you know of anyone available contact Karen Barton

 Swimming school Contractor tenders have closed and have tenders in doing up reports for
council.

 It was raised recently about Disabled car park in Rainbow, Council staff have had a look and
decided that it may be simpler than first thought, would have to liaise with cafe owners.to see if
they would be interested regarding  part use of their loading bay.

Question from Greg Roberts: re Cardboard bin being extremely difficult to get cardboard in
and even worse if it is windy.

Liaison Officer: thought they had placed a lower skip there but would have a chat to the
contractor.
Motion: to receive Liaison Officer report
Moved: Phillip Molesworth / Greg Roberts - carried
Inwards correspondence:

 Email: from Phil King requesting date of AGM.
 Email: from Pam Newton re Rainbow & District Secondary Education Centenary 1919 –

2019.
Motion: to receive inwards correspondence and endorse outwards correspondence.
Moved: Leonie Clarke / Phillip Molesworth - carried

General Business

1. Attend to Adrian Bennett’s motion / amendment from July meeting re silo funding.
Proposed Motion/Amendment:

Old Motion:
Motion: to re allocate $7,400.00 of   mystery House project funds to silo Art Trail funding.
Moved: Leonie Clarke / Michael Sullivan – carried

In order for motion to be changed it was necessary for mover of the original motion to allow it to
be changed.
Motion: to rescind old reallocation motion regarding Mystery House project funds allowing a
new motion to be put forward.
Moved: Leonie Clarke / Phillip Molesworth – carried
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The Amendment/Motion would then read.
Motion: I Move that The Rainbow Town Committee reallocate $7,400.00 from the mystery
House project funds. That a new Project be named the Rainbow Silo Art Trail Project and that
the $7,400.00 reallocated from the Mystery House Project are to be used for the purpose of silo
art within the township of Rainbow.
Moved: Adrian Bennett / Phillip Molesworth – carried

Chairperson Ross Heinrich: then requested a show of hands for voting purposes.
The vote was unanimous.

Rainbow & District Secondary Education Centenary:
After discussion it was decided that RTC were not adequately equipped to conduct the street
festival part of the event, members suggested a letter be written to their committee advising
them of this and for them to check with the Town Traders Working Group.

AGM Date: using next meeting date would be 24th September approval needed, the following
arrangements were decided on.

Motion: meeting & dinner to be held at the Eureka if available or the Rainbow 50’s Café if
Eureka not. Dinner @ 6.30 pm Monday 24th September 2018
AGM at approximately 7.30 pm
Moved: Michael Sullivan / Phillip Molesworth - carried

As there was no further business Chairperson Ross Heinrich thanked all for their attendance
and closed meeting@ 8.05pm
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